Public Document Pack

Planning Committee
Remote Meeting
Date:
Time:

Wednesday, 18th November, 2020
10.00 am

Venue:

Zoom - https://zoom.us/

Chairman:
Members:

Councillor S Merifield
Councillors G Bagnall, M Caton, P Fairhurst, R Freeman, G LeCount,
M Lemon (Vice-Chair), J Loughlin, R Pavitt, N Reeve and M Sutton

Substitutes:

Councillors S Barker, N Gregory, R Jones, B Light, E Oliver, G Sell
and J De Vries

Public Participation
Members of the public who would like to listen to the meeting live can do so here.
The broadcast will be made available as soon as the meeting begins.
At the start of each agenda item there will be an opportunity for members of the
public to make statements to the Committee via the video conferencing platform
Zoom subject to having given notice by 2pm on the day before the meeting.
Please refer to further information regarding public speaking overleaf.

AGENDA
PART 1
Open to Public and Press
1

Apologies for Absence and Declarations of Interest
To receive any apologies for absence and declarations of interest.

2

Minutes of the Previous Meeting

4 - 13

To consider the minutes of the previous meeting.
3

UTT/20/1753/FUL - Friarton, Chatter End Road, Farnham

14 - 41

To consider application UTT/20/1753/FUL.
4

UTT/20/0864/FUL - Land behind, The Old Cement Works,
Thaxted Road, Saffron Walden

42 - 61

To consider application UTT/20/0864/FUL.
5

UTT/19/2149/OP - Sandhurst, Great Canfield Road, Takeley

62 - 79

To consider application UTT/19/2149/OP.
6

UTT/20/0234/FUL - L/A Branksome, Whiteditch Lane, Newport

80 - 90

To consider application UTT/20/0234/FUL.
7

UTT/20/1334/FUL - L/A Branksome, Whiteditch Lane, Newport
To consider application UTT/20/1334/FUL.

91 - 100

REMOTE MEETINGS AND THE PUBLIC
Members of the public are welcome to listen to the debate of any of the Council’s
Cabinet or Committee virtual meetings. The broadcast, as well as all agendas,
reports and minutes can be found on the Council’s website www.uttlesford.gov.uk.
For background papers in relation to this meeting please contact
committee@uttlesford.gov.uk or phone 01799 510 369/410/548.
Members of the public and representatives of parish and town councils are permitted
to speak at this meeting via the video conferencing platform Zoom. You will need to
register with Democratic Services by 2pm on the day before the meeting. Please
register your intention to speak on an application by contacting Democratic Services
at committee@uttlesford.gov.uk.
The agenda is split into two parts. Most of the business is dealt with in Part I which is
open to the public. Part II includes items which may be discussed in the absence of
the press or public, as they deal with information which is personal or sensitive for
some other reason. You will be asked to leave the meeting before Part II items are
discussed.
Agenda and Minutes are available in alternative formats and/or languages. For more
information please call 01799 510510.
Facilities for people with disabilities
If you are deaf or have impaired hearing and would like a signer available at a
meeting, please contact committee@uttlesford.gov.uk or phone 01799 510
369/410/548 as soon as possible prior to the meeting.
For information about this meeting please contact Democratic Services
Telephone: 01799 510369, 510410 or 510548
Email: committee@uttlesford.gov.uk
General Enquiries
Council Offices, London Road, Saffron Walden, CB11 4ER
Telephone: 01799 510510
Fax: 01799 510550
Email: uconnect@uttlesford.gov.uk
Website: www.uttlesford.gov.uk

Agenda Item 2
PLANNING COMMITTEE held at ZOOM on WEDNESDAY, 28 OCTOBER
2020 at 10.00 am

PC61

Present:

Councillor S Merifield (Chair)
Councillors G Bagnall, M Caton, R Freeman, G LeCount,
M Lemon (Vice-Chair), B Light (Substitute for Councillor P
Fairhurst), J Loughlin, R Pavitt, N Reeve and M Sutton

Officers in
attendance:

N Brown (Development Manager), M Cranitch (Planning Officer),
C Edwards (Democratic Services Officer), C Gibson (Democratic
Services Officer), M Jones (Senior Planning Officer),
N Makwana (Planning Officer), M Sawyers (Planning Officer),
M Shoesmith (Development Management Team Leader),
E Smith (Interim Legal Services Manager) and C Theobald
(Senior Planning Officer)

Public
Speakers:

R Beer, Councillor I Delvalle, G Fisher, Y Frayling, P Jarman
(Farnham PC Clerk), C King, S King, C Lockie, V Lockie, R
Lodge, M Rivers-Latham, C Smith, R Stretton, P Sutton and R
Ward.

COUNCILLOR ALAN STORAH
The Chair paid tribute to the late Councillor Storah, who had sat on this
Committee. A minute’s silence was held as a mark of respect.

PC62

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Fairhurst.
Councillor Freeman declared a non-pecuniary interest as a member of Saffron
Walden Town Council.
Councillor Reeve declared a non-pecuniary interest as a member of High Easter
Parish Council.
Councillor Merifield declared a non-pecuniary interest as Ward Member for
Felsted and Stebbing.
Councillor Sutton declared a non-pecuniary interest as Ward Member for
Takeley.
Councillor Loughlin declared a non-pecuniary interest as Ward Member for Stort
Valley.
Councillor Light declared a non-pecuniary interest as a member for Saffron
Walden Town Council and as Ward Member for Saffron Walden Audley.

Page 4

PC63

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
The meeting was adjourned between 10.13 and 10.16 as Councillor Bagnall had
a connectivity problem which was resolved.
Councillor Bagnall referred to resolution b) of PC54 in respect of the setting up of
the footpath fund. He proposed additional wording which was agreed by the
Committee. Resolution b) should read as “a footpath fund to be set up and a
contribution thereto to be made by the applicant, the amount of the latter to be
agreed with Uttlesford District Council and with Essex County Council as
Highways Authority”.
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 30 September 2020 were agreed
and would be signed by the Chair as an accurate record at the next opportunity.

PC64

UTT/20/0561/FUL - POPLARS FARM, BROAD BRIDGE ROAD, AYTHORPE
RODING
The Senior Planning Officer stated that the proposal, which was partly
retrospective in nature, related to the following development/works:








demolition of existing dilapidated chicken shed building (sited at the
northern end of the site);
erection of a new storage barn building (to be erected on footprint of
chicken shed to be demolished);
retention of replacement cladding to an existing storage building (within the
existing building range);
retention of the construction of new access road (already partly carried
out);
formation of 3m high earth bunding (along the northern boundary of the
site with outer return section)
new native planting (to run parallel with the inside of the proposed access
road);
erection of 2m high timber screen fence (to run parallel with the outside of
the proposed access road).

He said that since the submission of the application, discussions had taken place
between Council Officers and the applicant’s agent regarding the relocation of
the proposed storage barn from the northern end of the site as originally shown
to the southern end of the site with new car park area and new planting strip.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions.
Members discussed the issues of:
 significant noise coming from the site,
 the previous removal of the earth bund that had acted as a visual screen and
had protected residential properties to the north of the site from noise from
the commercial operations,
 the poor state of the site and the need to clear up the rubble,

Page 5






the hours of commercial operation,
bio-diversity issues,
the removal of the newly laid unauthorised access roadway and
the fact that the applicant was a well-established supplier of high quality
water-based paint products that had provided long-term employment for local
people.

The Senior Planning Officer said that discussions had taken place with
Environmental Health and that no formal nuisance complaint had been
established. He said the noise that affected neighbours would reduce with the
relocation of the storage facility.
Members expressed strong support for a new bund to be put in place. It was
stated that in the event of any accidents the bund could absorb spillages.
The Development Manager said that Condition 11 could be re-worded to protect
the amenities of neighbouring residential occupiers and the hours of operation
detailed in Condition 9 could be clarified to refer to the whole site rather than just
the storage building.
Councillor Reeve proposed approval with revised Conditions 9 and 11 and
Councillor Pavitt seconded the motion.
RESOLVED to approve the application with revised conditions.
Condition 9 to refer to the site.
Condition 11 to read “A scheme of site restoration works, to include the
provision of a new landscaped earth bund, the precise positioning, height
and planting specification to be agreed, and also the removal of the
unauthorised access roadway laid down the eastern side of the site shall
be submitted to the local planning authority for written approval within 3
months of the date of this decision notice. Subsequently, the site
restoration scheme as approved shall be fully implemented within 6
months of the date of this decision notice”.
Y Frayling and R Stretton spoke on the application.
The meeting was adjourned at 11.26 am and reconvened at 11.31.

PC65

UTT/20/1596/OP - LAND AT MARANELLO, WATCH HOUSE GREEN,
FELSTED, DUNMOW
The Senior Planning Officer said that this proposal was for outline planning
permission for the erection of seven dwellings with all matters reserved except
for access. A new access road would be provided which would join onto the new
access road already approved on appeal as part of planning application
UTT/18/1011/OP for 28 dwellings to the adjacent site. An indicative plan had
been submitted showing a mix of three and four bedroomed detached and linkdetached dwellings. All dwellings had on plot parking and the indicative plans
showed four additional visitor parking spaces. All dwellings had in excess of

Page 6

100m2 private amenity space and the indicative plans showed the loss of 7 trees
with 9 new trees to be planted.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions with unilateral
undertaking- Special Protection Areas/RAMSAR.
Councillor Bagnall asked whether the applications for 28 and 7 dwellings could
be considered together in respect of possible S106 conditions and affordable
housing.
The Development Manager said the application had to be considered as only 7
dwellings as officers were satisfied that the two sites were in separate
ownership.
The Chair, as the Ward Member for Felsted and Stebbing said that the
application was outside development limits; she referred to the comments made
by the Parish Council and urged Members not to support the application. She
also said that she considered it to be a case of development creep.
Members discussed possible reasons for refusal of the application but
recognised that the Council could not demonstrate a five year supply of
deliverable housing sites; and because that figure was one of less than three
years supply, the added protection of paragraph 14 of the NPPF pertaining to
Neighbourhood Plans would not apply.
The Development Manager said that on a tilted balance consideration the weight
to be given to the requirement to provide a 5 year land supply and the housing
provision which could be delivered by the proposal outweighed the harm
identified in relation to rural restraint set out in ULP Policy S7.
Councillor Loughlin commented that the democratic system in planning was
being eroded and this view received support.
Councillor Lemon said that he regrettably proposed approval as recommended
by officers and Councillor Caton seconded the motion.
RESOLVED to approve the application with conditions with unilateral
undertaking – SPA/RAMSAR.
G Fisher spoke on the application.

PC66

UTT/20/1208/PIP - LAND AT PARSONAGE MEADOW, THE STREET, HIGH
EASTER
The Senior Planning Officer said that the application was one for permission in
principle for residential development comprising the erection of a maximum of
five dwellings.
An indicative block plan had detailed how up to five dwellings with associated
garaging and shared private access drive heading off the Street could be

Page 7

accommodated. There had also been a suggested footpath link leading from the
rear of the site that finished at the Lodge Coaches depot site (applicant) that
fronted onto The Street. This footpath would cross land in the control of the
applicant.
He said that the application was a call-in request from Councillor Barker and was
recommended for refusal.
Six public speakers addressed the Committee.
Three residents argued that the report recommendation should be upheld for the
reasons stated by officers. It was said that any consideration of the future
business interests of the applicant should be kept separate from the application,
that this was not a special case and that there were road safety, sustainable
travel and accessibility concerns.
Councillor Reeve spoke on behalf of High Easter Parish Council. He said that
the Chairman of the Parish Council was the applicant and the Vice-Chairman
was the agent. He said that he had chaired an extraordinary remote meeting of
the Parish Council at which only three of seven Councillors had no relevant
interest. That meeting had been attended by 42 residents. Councillor Reeve said
that the meeting had concluded that it could neither support nor object to the
application and as a result had submitted a summary of those points raised by
residents, and additional points noted by the Parish Council during the meeting.
The applicant summarised the history of his family’s relationship with the village
of High Easter and the problems incurred by the Lodge Coaches business during
the pandemic.
The agent referred to the Council being unable to demonstrate a five year land
supply and that therefore policies that were outdated had very little weight. He
said that the application was for five dwellings, one of which could possibly be
designated as affordable housing.
As previously agreed Councillor Reeve recused himself from the meeting at this
point (12.44 pm) and took no part in the discussion.
Councillor LeCount raised a question as to who owned the land towards the
main road and also whether the size of the site was 4.8 ha or 5.1 ha.
Councillor Light said that the land ownership issue was important but she saw no
reason for the development and was sympathetic towards the views expressed
by the residents. She proposed to uphold the officers’ recommendation to refuse
the application.
Councillor Pavitt seconded the motion.
RESOLVED to uphold the officers’ recommendation to refuse the
application.

Page 8

R Beer, V Lockie, C Lockie, Councillor N Reeve, R Lodge and P Sutton spoke
on the application.
Councillor Reeve re-joined the meeting at 12.52 pm.
The Committee adjourned at 12.52 pm for a lunch break and reconvened at 2.00
pm.

PC67

UTT/20/0083/FUL - ELMSWOOD, BRICK END, BROXTED, DUNMOW
The Planning Officer said that the proposal was for one dwelling with a car
charging point provided under the car port. External materials would consist of
brickwork to the walls, plain tiles to the roof, uPVC windows and doors.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions.
Members discussed the comments made by the Parish Council relating to there
being a serious drainage problem at the edge of the site and said that this could
be conditioned.
Councillor Sutton said that she was the Ward Member and was concerned about
blocked drains and safety issues.
Councillor Pavitt proposed approval of the application with conditions and with
an additional condition relating to surface drainage.
.
Councillor Sutton seconded the motion.
RESOLVED to approve the application with conditions and an additional
condition (14) relating to surface drainage which states: Before
development commences details of the surface water disposal
arrangements shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. These should encompass sustainable principles in
accordance with the recommendations of the NPPF and arrangements for
their ongoing maintenance. The drainage shall be constructed as
approved prior to the construction of any building on the site and
maintained in the same condition thereafter.
REASON: To control the risk of flooding to the development and adjoining
land in accordance with ULP Policies GEN2 and GEN3.

PC68

UTT/20/0084/FUL - ELMSWOOD, BRICK END, BROXTED, DUNMOW
The Planning Officer said that the proposal was for one dwelling with a car
charging point provided under the car port. External materials would consist of
brickwork to the walls, plain tiles to the roof, uPVC windows and doors.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions.

Page 9

Councillor Reeve referred to the substantial gate as shown in one of the
photographs and was informed that this would be removed as encroaching onto
Highways land.
Members noted that this application related to an adjoining plot as discussed in
the previous Agenda item and that this had raised similar concerns about
drainage.
The Chair proposed approval of the application with conditions and with an
additional condition relating to surface drainage.
.
Councillor Sutton seconded the motion.
RESOLVED to approve the application with conditions and an additional
condition (14) relating to surface drainage which states:
Before development commences details of the surface water disposal
arrangements shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. These should encompass sustainable principles in
accordance with the recommendations of the NPPF and arrangements for
their ongoing maintenance. The drainage shall be constructed as
approved prior to the construction of any building on the site and
maintained in the same condition thereafter.
REASON: To control the risk of flooding to the development and adjoining
land in accordance with ULP Policies GEN2 and GEN3.

PC69

UTT/20/1753/FUL - FRIARTON, CHATTER END ROAD, FARNHAM
The Planning Officer stated that full planning permission was being sought for
the erection of one detached dwelling, new access and erection of detached
garage for the proposed and host dwelling. He referred to late representations
submitted.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions.
Six public speakers addressed the Committee, some supporting and some
objecting to the application.
Although there had been a site visit last year, some Members considered that a
further visit would be beneficial prior to a decision being made. Concerns were
expressed that the application had changed significantly from what had
previously been for a small eco-house and that the objections particularly made
by the Parish Council merited consideration.
The meeting was adjourned at 2.58 pm to address audio transmission issues
and the meeting re-commenced at 3.12 pm once the problem had been
resolved.
Councillor Loughlin said that she was the Ward Member for the area. She gave a
brief history of the relevant site history and referred to the permission previously

Page 10

granted under delegated powers. She said that the proposed access
arrangements were completely different and that the village itself was
unsustainable.
Councillor Bagnall said that he remembered the previous visit and that there was
a need to approve a shared access to the site.
The Chair said that she considered that it would be worth re-visiting the site and
proposed that the item be deferred, pending a site visit.
Councillor LeCount seconded the motion.
RESOLVED to defer the application until the next Planning Committee
meeting, pending a site visit.
C Smith, M Rivers-Latham, P Jarman (Farnham PC Clerk), Councillor I Devalle,
C King and S King spoke on the application.
Councillors Bagnall and Caton both left the meeting, following this item, at 3.23
pm.

PC70

UTT/20/0835/FUL - MIDDEN, TOP ROAD, WIMBISH
The Planning Officer stated that the application was for a proposed new
vehicular access and a change of use of a section of field to residential garden. It
was proposed to close off the existing access road and return it to a natural
state. He said that the applicant’s immediate neighbour supported the
application.
The application was recommended for approval subject to conditions.
Councillor Reeve proposed approval of the application and Councillor Pavitt
seconded the motion.
RESOLVED to approve the application with conditions.

PC71

UTT/20/1711/HHF - ROWANS, ASHDON ROAD, SAFFRON WALDEN
The Development Management Team Leader stated that the application
proposed a single storey front extension to a detached two-storey dwelling set
back from the highway on Ashdon Road, opposite the Common.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions.
The Chair gave her permission for Councillor Freeman to speak on the matter,
following his earlier declaration. He referred Members to some of the site
photographs, the building lines and the comments made in respect of
conservation issues by Place Services Conservation.

Page 11

Councillor Freeman recused himself from the meeting at this point (3.39 pm) and
took no part in the discussion.
Councillor Light said that she was a Saffron Walden Town Council Member for a
different ward and did not sit on the Town Council Planning Committee. She said
that the proposed extension would not intrude visually or physically onto the
Common. She said it was a modest extension, behind a wall and greenery.
Councillor Lemon said that he agreed with Councillor Light and he asked for
clarification surrounding the Council’s arrangements for consultation on
conservation matters with Place Services.
The Development Manager summarised the arrangements and said that he was
very happy with the Place Services’ team’s input.
Councillor Light proposed approval of the application and Councillor Lemon
seconded the motion.
RESOLVED to approve the application with conditions.
Councillor R Freeman and R Ward spoke on the application.
Councillor Freeman returned to the meeting at 3.50 pm.

PC72

UTT/20/2284/HHF - 17 SPRINGHILL ROAD, SAFFRON WALDEN
The Development Management Team Leader said that the application related to
the addition of flat roofed dormer windows positioned either side of the existing
central gable to utilise the space in the roof. A single storey rear extension was
proposed attaching to the single storey lean to store and the roof of the existing
garage/store would be replaced.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions.
Councillor LeCount asked how many dormers there were.
The Development Management Team Leader said that there would be one large
dormer that utilised the roof space.
Councillor Light said that as the Ward Member she had received no objections to
the application.
In response to a question from Councillor Reeve relating to the side of the
property, the Development Management Team Leader confirmed that this area
was unaffected.
Councillor Lemon proposed approval of the application and Councillor Light
seconded the motion.
RESOLVED to approve the application with conditions.

Page 12

Meeting Closed 4.00 pm.

Page 13

Agenda Item 3
UTT/20/1753/FUL (Farnham)
(Deferred from previous Planning Committee 28/10/20 following member vote and
agreement for a site visit).
(Referred to Planning Committee by Councillor Loughlin for the following reasons:
 To assess the impact on neighbouring and surrounding properties.
 Controversial application.

PROPOSAL:

The erection of 1 no. detached dwelling, new
access, and erection of detached garage for the
proposed and host dwelling. Revised application
following granting of planning permission
(UTT/20/0243/FUL)

LOCATION:

Friarton, Chatter End Road, Farnham, CM23 1HL

APPLICANT:

Mr and Mrs S King

AGENT:

Chloe Horsfield, Ian Abrams Architect Limited, 5 The
Maltings, Station Road, Newport, CB11 3RN

EXPIRY DATE:

11th September 2020 (Extension of time until 27th
November 2020)

CASE OFFICER:

Nathan Makwana

1.

NOTATION

1.1

Outside Development Limits,

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The application site is located to the south of Chatter End Road in the parish of
Farnham. The site is within the existing garden area serving Friarton. Friarton is a
two storey detached property set towards the front of the site with a large garden
and outbuildings. The site is mainly bound by hedgerow and fencing.

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

Full planning permission is sought for the erection of 1 no. detached dwelling,
new access, and erection of detached garage for the proposed and host dwelling.
This is a revised application following granting of planning permission
(UTT/20/0243/FUL).

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

Town and Country Planning (Environmental Assessment): The proposal is not a
Schedule 1 development, nor does it exceed the threshold criteria of Schedule 2,
and therefore an Environmental Assessment is not required.

4.2

Human Rights Act considerations: There may be implications under Article 1 and

Page 14

Article 8 of the First Protocol regarding the right of respect for a person's private
and family life and home, and to the peaceful enjoyment of possessions;
however, these issues have been taken into account in the determination of this
application.
5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

5.1

The applicant has provided a planning statement in support of the planning
application to illustrate the process that has led to the development proposal and
to explain and justify the proposal in a structured way.

5.2

Also submitted with this planning application is a completed Biodiversity
Checklist, Planning, Design and Access Statement, Ecological Survey and
Assessment, Transport Statement, Arboricultural Impact Assessment and
Topographical Survey.

6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

6.1

Erection of 1 no. dwelling and detached garage to be shared by proposed and
host dwelling (Revised scheme to that approved under UTT/19/0484/OP) –
Approved with conditions on 12th March 2020.

6.2

UTT/19/0484/OP - Outline application with all matters reserved for the demolition
of existing garage and erection of 1 no. detached dwelling with shared access –
Approved on 07th June 2019

6.3

UTT/15/0525/OP - Outline application with all matters reserved for the demolition
of outbuildings and the erection on 1 no. dwelling – Refused on 01 May 2015

6.4

UTT/1435/09/OP - An outline application for a two storey dwelling – Refused on
11th March 2010

6.5

UTT/18/3279/FUL - Subdivision of existing house into two dwellings and the
construction of two new dwellings in the grounds including a new vehicular
crossover, access and refurbishment of the front boundary wall. (Revised scheme
to that approved under planning consent UTT/18/0449/FUL) – Approved on 22nd
March 2019.

6.6

UTT/1287/93/FUL - Erection of two storey front extension – Approved with
Conditions on 11th January 1994

7.

POLICIES
National Policies
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (June 2019)
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG)
Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)
ULP Policy S7 – The Countryside
ULP Policy H1 – Housing Development
ULP Policy H4 – Backland Development
ULP Policy H7 – Replacement Dwellings
ULP Policy GEN1 – Access

Page 15

ULP Policy GEN2 – Design
ULP Policy GEN4 – Good neighbourliness
ULP Policy GEN7 – Natural Conservation
ULP Policy GEN8 – Vehicle Parking Standards
ULP Policy ENV11 – Noise Generators
ULP Policy ENV14 – Contaminated Land
Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance
SPD – Accessible Homes and Playspace
Other Material Considerations
Essex Design Guide
ECC Parking Standards
UDC Parking Standards
8.

PARISH COUNCIL COMMENTS

8.1

Farnham Parish Council

8.2

Farnham Parish Council have provided a 6 page document outlining their
response objecting to this planning application. Due to the size of their
consultation response, it has been added as an appendix to this report, known as
Appendix 1 and available to view at the end. Below is the summary response
from the Parish Councils response:

8.3

The Parish Council feels that the application for a property on this site has
changed out of all proportion from that put forward originally. It is no longer a
small eco house using a shared drive with 'Friarton' which would maintain the
current ethos and character of the community. It is a proposed building of a much
larger house to be built in a backspace of one property and immediately behind
another property (Kettlewell Cottage) along with a three-car garage with offices
above. The proposed new drive impacts adversely on the PRoW and adds to the
general danger to safety of cyclists, walkers and horse riders.

8.4

The Parish Council also has concern about arrangements for the building of this
proposal and the effect of the HGV and other traffic (building supplies, large
vehicles etc) on the community and local lanes - for example turning points,
delivery of materials and the like.

8.5

Farnham Parish Council objects to this application and suggest that it runs
against the District Council policies of H7 (Replacement Dwellings), GEN2
(Design) and GEN1 (Access) and should be refused.

9.

CONSULTATIONS
ECC Highways

9.1

From a highway and transportation perspective the impact of the proposal is
acceptable to the Highway Authority subject to the following conditions:

9.2

1. Prior to occupation of the development the visibility splays of 2 metres by 35.1
metres with a one metre off-set in each direction, as shown on DWG no.
JNY10144-02 (titled – site access visibility splay), shall be provided and retained

Page 16

free of any obstruction in perpetuity.
Reason: To provide adequate inter-visibility between vehicles using the access
and those in the existing public highway in the interest of highway safety.
Chelmsford, CM2 5PU.
2. Prior to the first occupation of the development the access arrangements,
vehicle parking and turning area, as shown in principle on DWG no. 107719 .02
Rev. C, shall be provided. The access, parking and turning areas shall be
retained in perpetuity for their intended purpose.
Reason: To ensure that appropriate access, parking and turning is provided.
9.3

The above conditions are required to ensure that the development accords with
the Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies, adopted as County
Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011 and Uttlesford Local Plan
Policy GEN1.
UDC Environmental Health

9.2

Contaminated Land
The Council has no reason to believe this site is contaminated and is not aware
of any potentially contaminative past use, however, it is the developer's
responsibility to ensure that final ground conditions are fit for the end use of the
site therefore the following condition is requested;
If during any site investigation, excavation, engineering or construction works
evidence of land contamination is identified, the applicant shall notify the Local
Planning Authority without delay. Any land contamination identified, shall be
remediated to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority to ensure that the
site is made suitable for its end use.
Reason: To protect human health and the environment

9.3

Air Quality
The proposal is for there to be a charging point for electric vehicles, solar panels
and ground source heat pump.
NPPF 2018 supports provision of measures to minimise the impact of
development on air quality by encouraging non car travel and providing
infrastructure to support use of low emission vehicles. A condition requiring the
charging point for electric vehicles is requested.

9.4

Informatives
Asbestos:
Under the Control of Asbestos Regulations a refurbishment and demolition
survey is required before the demolition of any buildings which may contain
asbestos, and any asbestos found must be safely removed by a trained
contractor before work commences. All asbestos removed in relation to this
development shall be done in full consultation with the Health & Safety Executive
using a licenced contractor. Contractor details and asbestos disposal records

Page 17

(waste transfer notes) should be submitted to the council upon completion to
prevent the asbestos from being buried on site during construction.
All small sewage discharges must either meet the Environment Agency’s general
binding rules or have an Environmental Permit. The rules may be found at
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/general-binding-rules-small-sewage-discharge-to-asurface-water
Developers are referred to the Uttlesford District Code of Development Practice.
To avoid/minimise the impact upon the amenity of adjoining residents; developers
are advised to follow the General Principle, and advice contained therein.
ECC Ecology
9.5

Thank you for consulting Place Services on the above revised application.
No objection subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement
measures.

9.6

Summary
We have reviewed the documents supplied with the application including the
Biodiversity Validation Checklist (Ian Abrams Architect Ltd., January 2020);
Ecological Survey and Assessment (Essex Mammal Surveys, June 2020); Magic
Maps; and aerial photographs, to help assess the likely impacts of the
development on designated sites, protected and Priority species and habitats.

9.7

We note that the development site is situated within the Impact Risk Zone for
Hatfield Forest Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI)/National Nature Reserve
(NNR) as shown on MAGIC map (www.magic.gov.uk ). Therefore, Natural
England’s revised interim advice to Uttlesford DC (ref: HatFor Strategic Interim
LPA, 5 April 2019) should be followed to ensure that impacts are minimised to
this site from new residential development. As this application is less than 50 or
more units, Natural England do not, at this time, consider that is necessary for the
LPA to secure a developer contribution towards a package of funded Strategic
Access Management Measures (SAMMs) at Hatfield Forest.

9.8

We are satisfied that there is sufficient ecological information available for
determination. This provides certainty for the LPA of the likely impacts on
protected and Priority species and habitats and, with appropriate mitigation
measures secured, the development can be made acceptable.

9.9

We also support the proposed reasonable biodiversity enhancements specified in
the Ecological Survey and Assessment (Essex Mammal Surveys, June 2020),
which have been recommended to secure measurable net gains for biodiversity,
as outlined under Paragraph 170d of the National Planning Policy Framework
2019. The reasonable biodiversity enhancement measures should be detailed
within a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy and should be secured by a condition
of any consent.

9.10

This will enable LPA to demonstrate its compliance with its statutory duties
including its biodiversity duty under s40 NERC Act 2006. Impacts will be
minimised such that the proposal is acceptable subject to the conditions below
based on BS42020:2013. Submission for approval and implementation of the
details below should be a condition of any planning consent.

Page 18

9.11

Recommended conditions:
1. ACTION REQUIRED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ECOLOGICAL APPRAISAL
RECOMMENDATIONS
“All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in
accordance with the details contained in the Ecological Survey and Assessment
(Essex Mammal Surveys, June 2020), as already submitted with the planning
application and agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to
determination.
This may include the appointment of an appropriately competent person e.g. an
ecological clerk of works (ECoW) to provide on-site ecological expertise during
construction. The appointed person shall undertake all activities, and works shall
be carried out, in accordance with the approved details.”
Reason: To conserve and enhance protected and Priority species and allow the
LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as
amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).

9.12

2. PRIOR TO SLAB LEVEL: BIODIVERSITY ENHANCEMENT LAYOUT
“A Biodiversity Enhancement Layout, providing the finalised details and locations
of the enhancement measures contained within the Ecological Survey and
Assessment (Essex Mammal Surveys, June 2020), shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The enhancement measures shall be implemented in accordance with the
approved details and all features shall be retained in that manner thereafter.”
Reason: To enhance protected and Priority species and habitats and allow the
LPA to discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats
& species).

9.13

3. PRIOR TO OCCUPATION: WILDLIFE SENSITIVE LIGHTING DESIGN
SCHEME
“A lighting design scheme for biodiversity shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall identify those features
on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause
disturbance along important routes used for foraging; and show how and where
external lighting will be installed so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas
to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats using their territory.
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and
locations set out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the
scheme. Under no circumstances should any other external lighting be installed
without prior consent from the local planning authority.”
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside
Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats &
species).
MAG London Stansted Airport

Page 19

9.14

The Safeguarding Authority for Stansted Airport has assessed this proposal and
its potential to conflict aerodrome Safeguarding criteria. We have no aerodrome
safeguarding objections to the proposal.

10.

REPRESENTATIONS

10.1

19 Neighbour Representations have been received, 16 objecting to the
application proposal. 3 in support of the application proposal.
A site notice was displayed at the application site on the 30th July 2020 and
expired on the 20th August 2020.
Neighbour notification period expired on the 11th August 2020.

10.2

Summary of representations received as follows:
-

-

-

-

-

-

10.3

-

The proposed new house and garage are far too big for the site.
The new access driveway will conflict with a public right of way and this
raises safety concerns.
The new entrance onto this narrow unclassified road with groundworks to
demolish part of the roadside bank is at least dangerous.
Rural landscapes form part of the character of the parish and this
development would completely change the skyline viewed either from the
village or from Farnham Green.
The proposed new driveway onto the Chatter End road is very dangerous
it’s on a hill and bend and visibility is very limited.
These latest plans make the house bigger than the existing one with the
roof line higher than the present one, this will have a negative appearance
on the hamlet as you come up the road.
The new proposed driveway also crosses a very well used footpath going
across to the village and this new driveway will also mean a large volume
of the protected bank will have to be removed for access to the new
property.
The construction of this development will have a big impact on the
residents and working farm further up the road as it’s our only access in
and out.
The size of the house has significantly changed to one which is now larger
than the current house on the site, 'Friarton', with a roof line that will be
above that of 'Friarton'.
The proposed drive should be refused for development of backspace,
danger of additional vehicles accessing Chatter End, a small country lane,
heavily used by walkers, horse riders along with traffic serving Chatter
End, Shaw Wood and Farnham Green. This includes a working farm. The
new proposed driveway will cross a Public Right of Way (PRoW) at a
difficult point near a hedge.
The driveway is on a very narrow and dangerous bend where there are
already many near misses. This aside from putting excess water onto the
road which freezes and is not gritted during winter months will have
severe implications to the residents of Farnham Green, as this is there
only access.
A feature of Farnham and especially Chatter End is the sunken lanes and
high banks the new drive will ruin this.
The original plans were we felt in keeping with the proposed eco
retirement house these, with the proposed 3 car garage and workspace

Page 20

-

-

-

above appear now to be almost 2 separate projects.
Future concerns over the placement and location of the garage, being
used as living accommodation that may overlook neighbouring properties.
The new application is for something significantly larger with a new
entrance and drive that will if accepted create an accident waiting to
happen on to what is a very narrow lane.
The proposal is detrimental to the countryside in Farnham in both its
proposal for a new dwelling outside the existing development line in
Chatter End.
The height of the proposal will impact the village and neighbouring
properties and is not in keeping.

The representations in support of the application proposal are as follows:
The proposed new access enhances the usability of Friarton and the proposed
new dwelling.
- The design, and screening hedge minimises any visual intrusion into the
countryside avoids the need to move an existing footpath and preserves the
existing large mature beech hedge for wildlife.
- The proposed garage offers valuable office space for the proposed new
residents.
- The proposal has been approved in a similar form back in March 2020. This
new application is only for the access and minor alterations to the dwelling.
- The height of the dwelling has not changed following the previously approved
application.
The above is a summary of the representations received, full versions are
available via the online public access system.
11.

APPRAISAL

The issues to consider in the determination of the application are:
A
B
C
D
E
F
F
G
H
I
J

The Principle of development – Impact on Countryside Character (NPPF, ULP
Policies S7, H1, H4, GEN2);
Character, Design and Appearance (ULP Policies S7, H4, GEN2, NPPF);
Access and Transport (GEN1, GEN8, NPPF)
Ecology (GEN7, NPPF);
Environmental Health (GEN4, ENV14, NPPF)
Flooding (ULP Policies GEN3, NPPF);
Infrastructure (ULP Policies GEN6, NPPF);
Noise and Contaminated Land (ULP Policies ENV10, ENV14, NPPF);
Affordable Housing (ULP Policy H9, NPPF)
Housing Mix (H10, SHMA, NPPF)
Housing Land Supply (NPPF)

A

The Principle of development –Impact on Countryside Character (NPPF,
ULP Policies S7 and GEN2);

11.1

The proposal is located outside of any development limits, within the countryside.
As a result, Local Plan Policy S7 applies. This states that the countryside will be
protected for its own sake and that planning permission will only be given for
development that needs to take place there or is appropriate to the rural area,
with development only being permitted if its appearance protects or enhances the

Page 21

particular character of the part of the countryside within which it is set or there are
special reasons why the development in the form proposed needs to be there.
11.2

11.3

ULP Policy H4 considers back land development, in the context of the principle of
the development this policy advises development of a parcel of land does not
have a road frontage will be permitted if:
-

There is significant under use of the land and the development would
make more effective use of it;
There would be no material overlooking or overshadowing of nearby
properties;
Development would not have an overbearing impact on neighbouring
properties;
Access would not cause a disturbance to nearby properties.

11.4

A previously approved outline application, UTT/19/0484/OP, was approved by the
Planning Committee on the 07/06/19. The Officers report stated that in regards to
ULP Policy H4, the large site could accommodate a new dwelling on this site and
would make better use of the large unused area.

11.5

The Planning Committee determined themselves that Policy S7 could not be
considered a reason for refusal as the site was considered sustainable and the
benefits of the application outweighed any harms that arose from the proposal.

11.6

The principle of development was further established with the approval of a
similar scheme, UTT/20/0243/FUL - Erection of 1 no. dwelling and detached
garage to be shared by proposed and host dwelling (Revised scheme to that
approved under UTT/19/0484/OP) – Approved with conditions on 12th March
2020.

11.7

Therefore the proposed scheme is seen to accord with Policies S7, and H4 of the
Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF.

B

Character, Design, Appearance and Amenity (ULP Policies S7, H4, GEN2,
NPPF);

11.8

As outlined above, this full application relates to a site in Farnham. It forms part
garden land to a detached property that has an enclosed and well defined
curtilage, separating it from the open countryside to its south. Outline planning
permission was granted in June 2019 under reference UTT/19/0484/OP for the
demolition of the existing garage and the erection of 1 detached dwelling with a
shared access.

11.9

Following the granting of outline approval, a full application was submitted for the
erection of a 1½ storey 3 bedroom house, and a detached garage providing
parking and storage for the host and proposed dwelling. Access was shared with
the host dwelling. Planning permission was granted on 12 March 2020 subject to
conditions.

11.10

The Planning Statement outlines that this was a full application, owing to the
garden to the proposed plot being enlarged and parts of the driveway being
required to be extended in width to provide passing bays, extending beyond the
outline red line areas. The proposed dwelling was set side onto the rear of
‘Friarton’, with essentially two main elevations, facing eastwards towards the

Page 22

footpath, and westwards towards the garden. The previously approved dwelling
possessed dormers in the eastern elevation, and several rooflights. This elevation
is rendered above a brick plinth and the roof was clay tiled.
11.11

The access was as existing but was widened to 6 metres for the first 6 metres
into the site. Visibility splays of 2 metres x 35.1 metres were shown on the block
plan. It served both dwellings and was along the majority of its length 2 car width,
leading to the detached garage block to the rear of the host dwelling. This
provided 1 space for the host dwelling, and 2 spaces for the new dwelling, plus a
garden storage area and plant room for the ground source heat pump for the
latter at the rear.

11.12

The opposite, garden/western elevation possessed two projecting gables with a
large amount of glazing extending to the eaves and ridge. One as a single storey,
and the other providing for a master bedroom suite within the eaves, and a
balcony set within a roof overhang, with a glass balustrade. Both gables will
project beyond at first floor, to provide a veranda below. Solar panels are
included. There was an oak framed porch on the western elevation. The materials
were render and painted horizontal cladding over a brick plinth. The roofs are
steeply pitched, finished in plain clay tiles. The fenestration was to be painted as
aluminium.

11.13

The garden extended to the west and will occupy no more than the existing
residential curtilage. Native species hedgerows were to be retained and planted
along the outer boundaries to the south and east, and post and rail fences will be
erected where necessary. The garage was to have a gable running horizontally,
and a projecting gable over part of the rear, over the store section. The pitched
roof was to be clad in plain clay tiles and the elevations will be finished in render.
The doors will be metal up and over. There were to be solar panels in the rear
gable elevation facing the plot, orientated southwards.

11.14

As outlined above, the principal of development had already been established
prior to this scheme being submitted and this resulted in the full application a one
and a half storey dwelling, which is similar in size scale to neighbouring Friarton,
being approved.

11.15

This revised application proposal is essentially the same as the extant scheme.
However, the following changes have been made:

11.16

- The proposed dwelling will no longer share access with the host dwelling that
runs to its western side.
- A strip of land to the east of the existing curtilage to the host dwelling and the
plot is included within the application to facilitate its own, private access.
- Visibility splays, surface materials, access width, bin storage etc are shown on
the plans.
- A section of existing hedge will be removed on the eastern boundary to allow
access into the site.
- A new hedge will be planted around the new outer boundary with the
countryside, 47 metres total in length.
- A wide path will be retained for the public footpath, dedicated to pedestrians and
no longer shared with farm and utility company traffic.
- The front door to the house is moved to the eastern elevation as are the garage
doors and driveway to serve the new dwelling.
- A 5 bar timber gate is proposed.

Page 23

- Rooflights are added to the garages to provide some limited office/studio space
within the eaves.
- The garage block is moved very slightly westwards and extended to allow for a
staircase to the roof accommodation.
11.17

The majority of the proposed changes are considered superficial and do not vary
significantly when compared with the previously approved scheme. The relevant
planning considerations in respect of this application is the suitability of the
proposed changes, primarily to the provision of a new access, on the rural
character of the area, the setting of the Listed Building, and the amenity of
neighbouring properties.

11.18

The previous scheme acknowledged that the dwelling had been designed with
effectively two frontages, one of which faced eastwards towards the footpath. The
public footpath lies on the eastern side of the boundary hedge. It heads
southwards to the centre of Farnham village. It is currently open to the field, with
no physical demarcation, with a definitive width of 1.5m.

11.19

The minor alterations to the design of the dwelling involve the provision of a front
door to the eastern elevation. This does not alter the design or result in any
additional harm. The same is applicable to the moving of the garage doors to the
garage for the proposed new dwelling from the western to the eastern elevation,
the slight moving westwards of the garage block and the provision of rooflights to
light some first floor space.

11.20

It is acknowledged that the design from the original outline scheme and that of
the approved scheme and this current version differ. However, the previous
planning permission (UTT/20/0243/FUL) has granted the precedent from a design
perspective for this scheme. As identified above, the proposed changes are not
considered fundamentally different from the previously approved scheme, as the
bulk, massing, size and scale are effectively the same.

11.21

The addition of the garage floor is a material change compared to the previously
approved scheme. Concerns have been raised about the necessity for this space
and potential overlooking concerns and also concerns regarding a potential
change into residential accommodation. The outlook for this additional first floor is
provided by rooflights and a small window on the side south elevation. These are
not considered to provide a detrimental level of overlooking, given the oblique
angle of rooflights and the south facing window of the small side facing window.

11.22

Any material change in the first floor would be subject to a planning application to
convert it into a residential annexe or even accommodation. Any unauthorised
change would be subject to enforcement action. However, as this is only to be
used as ancillary space and this is clearly labelled on the supplied plans, any
proposed potential change at this change is mere speculation and the application
must be assessed on the merits provided.

11.23

The design concerns and wider countryside impact of the proposed access are
assessed in the section below. With regards to the dwelling and the proposed
changes as part of this application, as described above, the proposed changes
are fundamentally non-material and the majority of the design has been granted
following the previously approved planning application.

11.24

This revised scheme does not raise any new residential amenity concerns with
respect to overlooking, overbearing or overshadowing. The external amenity

Page 24

space provided is adequate for a dwelling of this size and the internal floor space
far exceeds that specified within the internal technical standards.
11.25

In design and amenity terms, the revisions to the proposed dwelling are
considered acceptable and accord with ULP Policies H4, and GEN2 of the
Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF 2019.

C

Access and Transport (GEN1, GEN8, NPPF)

11.26

The main alteration to this application relates to the establishment of the access
on the eastern side of the existing residential curtilage. The plans and planning
statement outline that it will require the removal of a section of the existing
hedgerow, some 7 metres, to allow access and exit into the driveway. All of the
remainder of the existing hedgerow along this boundary is to be retained. The
planning statement goes on to say that the section lost will more than be replaced
with a new native species hedgerow planted to the east of the new driveway.

11.27

It further states that the new hedgerow will amount to a length of 47 metres, 6
times longer than that lost. It states that this new hedgerow will provide a new
boundary between the residential element at Chatter End and the open
agricultural land. It will provide a second row of hedging along a large part of this
overall boundary.

11.28

The driveway is to be finished in a porous, gravel surface, apart from the first 6
metres from the highway that is required to be a bound material. The proposed
gates from the end of the access into the site will be a five bar timber gate,
appropriate for this rural location. The gates are to open inwards.

11.29

With regard to highway and pedestrian safety, the statement goes on to say that
the proposal has been discussed with the Highways Department. The required
visibility splays, surface materials, width of access and the trajectory of the
access road are all provided.

11.30

The public footpath is to retain its existing route and form, alongside the boundary
hedge. It will be at least 2 metres wide, and mostly wider, with pedestrian visibility
onto the road as now. This will be surfaced on grass, maintained by the
applicants. It is to cross the egress into the site, but there will be excellent
visibility here, ensuring pedestrian safety.

11.31

As with the previously approved scheme, car parking provision on site for the
existing and proposed dwellings meet the Council’s standards, and there will be
on site turning for each dwelling also. The turning for the new dwelling will be
away from the footpath so as not to impinge on pedestrian safety.

11.32

Essex County Council Highways have been consulted and subject to two
conditions relating to visibility splays and vehicle turning points, no objection is
raised. A number of informatives relating to development impacting a public right
of way are also provided.

11.33

A significant number of objections have been received relating to the creation of
this new access. The objections range from highway safety, impact to the users
of the public right of away adjacent to the access, design and amenity grounds,
landscaping issues and that of visibility, as well as concerns over construction
traffic should the dwelling gain planning permission.

Page 25

11.34

It is acknowledged that the widening of the access will result in change to the
landscape. However, the proposed widening and loss of this verge is to such a
small section and adjacent to the public right of way, it is not considered to pose
such visual or design harm to warrant refusal of this application.

11.35

Concerns of highway safety are also noted, however, the applicant has
demonstrated that visibility splays can be achieved and this has been met to the
satisfaction of the Local Highways Authority and will therefore be secured by
condition should planning permission be granted.

11.36

The Public Right of Way network is protected by the Highways Act 1980. Any
unauthorised interference with any route noted on the Definitive Map of PROW is
considered to be a breach of this legislation. The response from the Local
Highway Authority states that the public’s rights and ease of passage over public
footpath no. 2 (Farnham) shall be maintained free and unobstructed at all times to
ensure the continued safe passage of the public on the definitive right of way.

11.37

The response also states that the grant of planning permission does not
automatically allow development to commence. In the event of works affecting
the highway, none shall be permitted to commence until such time as they have
been fully agreed with this Authority. In the interests of highway user safety this
may involve the applicant requesting a temporary closure of the definitive route
using powers included in the aforementioned Act. All costs associated with this
shall be borne by the applicant and any damage caused to the route shall be
rectified by the applicant within the timescale of the closure.

11.38

As outlined above, the relevant parking spaces are provided as per the Uttlesford
parking standards, along with vehicle turning points, as identified on the site and
block plan.

11.39

The application proposal is therefore considered to accord with ULP Policies
GEN1, GEN2, and GEN8 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF 2019.

D

Ecology (GEN7, NPPF)

11.40

The Ecology Officer has been consulted regarding this planning application and
states that they have reviewed the documents supplied with the application
including the Biodiversity Validation Checklist (Ian Abrams Architect Ltd., January
2020); Ecological Survey and Assessment (Essex Mammal Surveys, June 2020);
Magic Maps; and aerial photographs, to help assess the likely impacts of the
development on designated sites, protected and Priority species and habitats.

11.41

They note that note that the development site is situated within the Impact Risk
Zone for Hatfield Forest Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI)/National Nature
Reserve (NNR) as shown on MAGIC map (www.magic.gov.uk ). Therefore,
Natural England’s revised interim advice to Uttlesford DC (ref: HatFor Strategic
Interim LPA, 5 April 2019) should be followed to ensure that impacts are
minimised to this site from new residential development. As this application is
less than 50 or more units, Natural England do not, at this time, consider that is
necessary for the LPA to secure a developer contribution towards a package of
funded Strategic Access Management Measures (SAMMs) at Hatfield Forest.

11.42

They support the proposed reasonable biodiversity enhancements specified in
the Ecological Survey and Assessment (Essex Mammal Surveys, June 2020),
which have been recommended to secure measurable net gains for biodiversity,

Page 26

as outlined under Paragraph 170d of the National Planning Policy Framework
2019. The reasonable biodiversity enhancement measures should be detailed
within a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy and should be secured by a condition
of any consent.
11.43

Subject to the recommended conditions, the application proposal is considered to
accord with ULP Policy GEN7 and the NPPF.

E

Noise and Contaminated Land (GEN4, ENV10, ENV14, NPPF)

11.44

The Environmental Health Officer has been consulted and recommends a
condition ensuring that ground conditions are fit for the developments end use. A
condition is recommended stating that if during any site investigation, excavation,
engineering or construction works evidence of land contamination is identified,
the applicant shall notify the Local Planning Authority without delay. Any land
contamination identified, shall be remediated to the satisfaction of the Local
Planning Authority to ensure that the site is made suitable for its end use.

11.45

A condition relating to an electric vehicle charging point is recommended as well
as a number of informatives relating to asbestos. A construction management
plan condition has also been included to safeguard neighbour amenity.

11.46

Subject to the included conditions, the proposal accords with ULP Policies GEN4,
ENV14 and the NPPF 2019.

F

Flooding (ULP Policies GEN3, NPPF);

11.47

Policy GEN3 contains the Local Plan policy for flooding, although this has
effectively been superseded by the more detailed and up-to-date flood risk
policies in the NPPF and the accompanying PPG. The SFRA confirms that the
site is not in an area at risk of flooding and, as the development is for less than 10
dwellings, national policy does not require the use of a sustainable drainage
system. It is therefore concluded that the proposal would not give rise to any
significant adverse effects with respect to flood risk, such that it accords with the
policies in the NPPF and PPG.

G

Infrastructure (ULP Policies GEN6, NPPF);

11.48

Taking into account the nature and scale of the development it is considered that
there would be no requirement for improvements to off-site infrastructure. It is
therefore concluded that the proposal accords with Policy GEN6.

H

Affordable Housing (ULP Policy H9, NPPF)

11.49

Policy H9 and its preamble form the basis for seeking affordable housing
provision from new residential developments. In this case, the policy indicates
that the proposal need not make a contribution.

11.50

As the site area is greater than 0.1 ha, Policy H10 requires that small market
housing comprises a significant proportion of the total number of units. However,
as the proposal is only for one dwelling, this requirement is dismissed as this
would be unreasonable in these circumstances.

Page 27

I

Housing Land Supply (NPPF)

11.51

The NPPF describes the importance of maintaining a five-year supply of
deliverable housing sites. The Council’s housing land supply currently falls short
of this and is only able to demonstrate a supply of 2.68 years (Five Year Housing
Land Supply update October 2019).

11.52

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF considers the presumption of sustainable
development, this includes where there are no relevant development plan
policies, or where policies which are most important for determining the
application are out-of-date. This includes where the five year housing supply
cannot be delivered.

11.53

Therefore a balance approach should be applied in the assessment of the
proposed development and whether the potential harm the development might
cause ‘significantly and demonstrably’ outweighs the potential positive outcomes
of the development as a whole.

11.54

The proposed scheme does provide for one new dwelling. The scheme has a
small modest economic benefit, this includes employment during the construction
and the potential of contribution to local services, and although positive these are
a modest level of economic benefit.

11.55

Ecology, Environmental Health, Highways and Stansted Airport have not raised
objections to the scheme and the scheme is not in a flood sensitive area. These
elements weigh in the scheme’s favour.

11.56

The application site would provide a net gain of one additional dwelling which
would have access to services within the surrounding area. There is also the
potential to secure ecological benefits. I attach these matters moderate weight.

11.57

The principle of development has been established by virtue of two previous
applications, which are material considerations in the assessment and
determination of this planning application and they are extant consents that can
still be implemented.

11.58

Although the proposal will result in the loss of a small section of verge, it is not
considered this will have a harmful impact to the open character of the
countryside location and it surroundings. Also the net gain of one dwelling will
have positive contribution to housing supply of which the Council cannot
demonstrate a 5 year housing supply. Overall it is considered the benefits of the
scheme outweigh the any limited harm that may occur from the scheme

12.

CONCLUSION

The following is a summary of the main reasons for the recommendation:
A

The principle of development was further established with the approval of a
similar scheme, UTT/20/0243/FUL - Erection of 1 no. dwelling and detached
garage to be shared by proposed and host dwelling (Revised scheme to that
approved under UTT/19/0484/OP) – Approved with conditions on 12th March
2020. Therefore the proposed scheme is seen to accord with policies S7, H4 of
the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF.

Page 28

B

In design and amenity terms, the revisions to the proposed dwelling are
considered acceptable and accord with ULP Policies H4, GEN2 of the Uttlesford
Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF 2019.

C

Essex County Council Highways have not objected on highway safety grounds
and the relevant parking spaces have been provided that accord with the
Uttlesford Local Plan parking spaces. The application proposal is therefore
considered to accord with ULP Policies GEN1, GEN2, GEN8 of the Uttlesford
Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF 2019.

D

No objections are raised with from the Ecology Officer, subject to the
recommended conditions, the application proposal is considered to accord with
ULP Policy GEN7 and the NPPF.

E

The development does not pose any harm regarding noise or contaminated land.
Subject to the included conditions, the proposal accords with ULP Policies GEN4,
ENV14 and the NPPF 2019.

F

The proposal would not give rise to any significant adverse effects with respect to
flood risk, such that it accords with the policies in the NPPF and PPG.

G

Taking into account the nature and scale of the development it is considered that
there would be no requirement for improvements to off-site infrastructure. It is
therefore concluded that the proposal accords with Policy GEN6

H

As the site area is greater than 0.1 ha, Policy H10 requires that small market
housing comprises a significant proportion of the total number of units. However,
as the proposal is only for one dwelling, this requirement is dismissed

I

Overall it is considered the benefits of the scheme outweigh the any limited harm
that may occur from the scheme.

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVAL WITH CONDITIONS
Conditions
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3
years from the date of this decision.
REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2.

Prior to commencement of the development above slab level a detailed hard and
soft landscaping scheme (including planting, hard surfaces and boundary
treatment) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details. This should include boundary treatment between the site and
neighbouring property.
REASON: To ensure compatibility with the character of the area, in accordance
with Policy GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) and the National
Planning Policy Framework. This condition is to ensure that the development is
only carried out in accordance with the above details.

Page 29

3.

All planting, seeding or turfing and soil preparation comprised in the above details
of landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons
following the occupation of the buildings, the completion of the development, or in
agreed phases whichever is the sooner, and any plants which within a period of
five years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with
others of similar size and species, unless the local planning authority gives
written consent to any variation. All landscape works shall be carried out in
accordance with the guidance contained in British Standards, unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
REASON: To ensure compatibility with the character of the area in accordance
with ULP Policies S7 and GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

4.

The dwellings hereby approved shall be built to Category 2: Accessible and
adaptable dwellings M4(2) of the Building Regulations 2010 Approved Document
M, Volume 1 2015 edition.
REASON : To ensure compliance with Policy GEN2 (c) of the Uttlesford Local
Plan 2005 and the subsequent SPD on Accessible Homes and Playspace

5.

If during any site investigation, excavation, engineering or construction works
evidence of land contamination is identified, the applicant shall notify the Local
Planning Authority without delay. Any land contamination identified, shall be
remediated to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority to ensure that the
site is made suitable for its end use.
REASON: To ensure that no future investigation is required under Part 2A of the
Environmental Protection Act 1990 and in accordance with ULP Policy ENV14
and the NPPF.

6.

Cycle parking shall be provided in accordance with the EPOA Parking Standards.
The approved facility shall be secure, convenient, covered and provided prior to
occupation and retained at all times.
REASON: To ensure appropriate cycle parking is provided in the interest of
highway safety and amenity and in accordance with ULP Policy GEN1.

7.

All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in
accordance with the details contained in the Ecological Survey and Assessment
(Essex Mammal Surveys, June 2020), as already submitted with the planning
application and agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to
determination.
This includes due diligence for mobile mammals and amphibians.
REASON: To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority species and allow the
LPA to discharge its duties under the UK Habitats Regulations, the Wildlife &
Countryside and in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local
Plan 2005 and the NPPF 2019.

8.

Prior to slab level, a biodiversity Enhancement Layout, providing the finalised
details and locations of the enhancement measures contained within the
Ecological Survey and Assessment (Essex Mammal Surveys, June 2020), shall

Page 30

be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
enhancement measures shall be implemented in accordance with the approved
details and all features shall be retained in that manner thereafter.
REASON: To enhance Protected and Priority Species and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats &
species) and in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan
2005 and the NPPF 2019.
9.

Prior to first occupation, a lighting design scheme for biodiversity shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme
shall identify those features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that
are likely to cause disturbance along important routes used for foraging; and
show how and where external lighting will be installed so that it can be clearly
demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats using their
territory.
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and
locations set out in the approved scheme and maintained thereafter in
accordance with the scheme. Under no circumstances should any other external
lighting be installed without prior consent from the local planning authority.
REASON: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside
Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species)
and in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and
the NPPF 2019.

10.

Prior to occupation of the development the visibility splays of 2 metres by 35.1
metres with a one metre off-set in each direction, as shown on DWG no.
JNY10144-02 (titled – site access visibility splay), shall be provided and retained
free of any obstruction in perpetuity.
REASON: To provide adequate inter-visibility between vehicles using the access
and those in the existing public highway in the interest of highway safety, in
accordance with ULP Policy GEN1 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the
NPPF 2019.

11.

Prior to the first occupation of the development the access arrangements, vehicle
parking and turning area, as shown in principle on DWG no. 107719 .02 Rev. C,
shall be provided. The access, parking and turning areas shall be retained in
perpetuity for their intended purpose.
REASON: To ensure that appropriate access, parking and turning is provided in
accordance with ULP Policy GEN1 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the
NPPF 2019.

Page 31

Site Map

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 0100018688

Organisation: Uttlesford District Council
Department: Planning
Date: 05 October 2020

Page 32

Appendix 1 – Farnham Parish Council Comments

Page 33

Page 34

Page 35

Page 36

Page 37

Page 38

Appendix 2 - UTT/20/0243/FUL – Previous Scheme Approved Plans

Page 39

Page 40

Page 41

Agenda Item 4
UTT/20/0864/FUL – (SAFFRON WALDEN)
(MAJOR APPLICATION)
PROPOSAL:

Erection of 35 Dwellinghouses (Revised scheme to that approved
under UTT/16/1444/OP and UTT/17/3038/DFO

LOCATION:

Land Behind The Old Cement Works, Thaxted Road, Saffron
Walden

APPLICANT:

Barkby Real Estate Limited

AGENT:

Phillips Planning Services Limited

EXPIRY DATE:

20.11.2020

CASE OFFICER:

Chris Tyler

1.

NOTATION

1.1

Within Development Limits; Employment Land to be Safeguarded.

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The site is located off Thaxted Road, Saffron Walden. It comprises an area of
open land, previously used as a cement works, lime kiln and scrapyard, to the rear
of existing residential development at The Kilns and Tiptoft Lane.

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

The application is for the erection of 35 dwellinghouses (Revised scheme to that
approved under UTT/16/1444/OP and UTT/17/3038/DFO

3.2

The proposal revises the previously approved development of the site which
included 21 market houses and 14 affordable homes A comprehensive viability
assessment of the consented scheme has determined that it is not viable to
deliver all 14 homes affordable homes. A reduction in the number of affordable
homes to 7 units is therefore proposed to enable the site to come forward in a
viable manner.
The only other material change to the development is to include an electric vehicle
charging point with every unit.

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

The development does not constitute 'EIA development' for the purposes of The
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations
2017.

5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

5.1

The applicant has provided a planning statement in support of the planning
application to illustrate the process that has led to the development proposal and

Page 42

to explain and justify the proposal in a structured way. Point included in the
planning statement are as follows:
5.2

As has been discussed, the principle of residential development on this site was
confirmed through various planning permissions, most recently UTT/16/1444/OP
and UTT/17/3038/DFO. There have been no material changes to the context of
relevant policy or the site to merit a different conclusion on this matter.

5.3

As has been set out, a review of the previous consent has identified that it would
not represent a viable proposition unless the provision of affordable housing is
reduced. The existing consent complied with Local Planning Policy requirement of
a 40% provision

5.4

The submitted Viability Assessment provides the evidence and justification for the
reduced provision from 14 to 7 dwellings.

5.5

The proposal nonetheless continues to provide affordable housing so will still be
making a contribution to addressing need within the district. The proposal being
viable will also mean that it is deliverable.

5.6

The application includes the following documents:
 Planning, Design & Access Statement
 Viability appraisal
 Ecological Statement
 SUDS Checklist

6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

6.1

The site has been the subject of a number of applications for permission/consent,
as listed below:
UTT/1382/01/FUL Erection of 8 blocks for class B1 business "live/work" purposes
and creation of new vehicular access
Approved with Conditions 21/07/2003
UTT/1882/05/FUL Variation of conditions C90D and C90E of planning permission
UTT/1382/01/FUL to provide off-site highway works and surfacing of estate road
prior to occupation rather than commencement.
Approved with Conditions 22/02/2006
UTT/13/1937/OP Outline application for up to 52 dwellings with all matters
reserved except access
Approved with Conditions 11/10/2013
UTT/16/1444/OP Outline application, with all matters reserved except for access,
for a residential development of up to 49 dwellings. Previously approved under
UTT/13/1937/OP
Approved with Conditions 16/11/2016
UTT/16/3477/DFO Details following outline planning permission for a residential
development of up to 49 dwellings (UTT/16/1444/OP) - Details of appearance,
layout, scale and landscaping (total of 46 dwellings)
Withdrawn 28/03/2017

Page 43

UTT/17/3038/DFO- Details following outline approval UTT/16/1444/OP for 35 no.
dwellings comprising 21 market homes and 14 affordable homes. Details of
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale.
Approved with conditions- 15/2/2018
7.

POLICIES

7.1

S70(2) of The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requires the local planning
authority, in dealing with a planning application, to have regard to:
(a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application,
(aza) a post-examination draft neighbourhood development plan, so far as
material to the application,
(b) any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application, and
(c) any other material considerations.

7.2

S38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard
is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be
made under the planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance
with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

7.3

Relevant development plan policies and material considerations are listed below.
Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)

7.4

S1 – Development Limits for the Main Urban Areas
GEN1 – Access
GEN2 – Design
GEN3 – Flood Protection
GEN4 – Good Neighbourliness
GEN5 – Light Pollution
GEN6 – Infrastructure Provision to Support Development
GEN7 – Nature Conservation
GEN8 – Vehicle Parking Standards
E2 – Safeguarding Employment Land
ENV8 – Other Landscape Elements of Importance for Nature Conservation
ENV12 – Protection of Water Resources
ENV13 – Exposure to Poor Air Quality
ENV14 – Contaminated Land
H1 – Housing Development
H3 – New Houses within Development Limits
H9 – Affordable Housing
H10 – Housing Mix
SW6 – Safeguarding of Existing Employment Areas
Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance

7.5

SPD – Accessible Homes and Playspace (2005)
The Essex Design Guide (2005)
Parking Standards: Design and Good Practice (2009)
Uttlesford Local Residential Parking Standards (2013)
National Policies

7.6

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Page 44

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)
- Design
- Flood risk and coastal change
- Housing: optional technical standards
- Land affected by contamination
- Light pollution
- Natural environment
- Planning obligations
- Rural housing
Other Material Considerations
7.7

West Essex and East Hertfordshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment
(SHMA) (2015)
Uttlesford Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) (2016)
Housing Trajectory 1 April 2017 (August 2017)

8.

TOWN COUNCIL COMMENTS

8.1

Objection, comments include:
- Loss of the amount of affordable homes,
- Lack of green space,
- Lack of provision of renewable energy,
- No EV charging points,
- Insufficient parking,
- Extra bedroom in plots

8.2

In regards to the comments received from the Town Council, it is noted the level of
affordable homes is one of the principle reasons of this revised planning
application and is considered section N of this report.
The provision of open space was considered acceptable in the previous approved
application UTT/17/3038/DFO, no material change has been made to this.
No renewable energy feature have been included in the proposal, however the
development would be built to current building regulation standards.
The proposal includes electric vehicle charging point for each dwelling as per
paragraph 11.17 of the report and recommended condition 7.
Parking provision for the dwellings are compliant with UDC standards, visitor
parking provisions are compliant with Essex parking Standards. This is set out in
paragraph 11.4 of the report.

9.

CONSULTATIONS
Highway Authority (Essex County Council)

9.1

No Objections subject to conditions including:
1. No development shall take place, including any ground works or demolition,
until a Construction Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the local planning authority. The approved Plan shall be adhered to
throughout the construction period. The Plan shall provide for:

Page 45

i. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
ii. loading and unloading of plant and materials
iii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development
iv. wheel and underbody cleaning facilities
v an undertaking that construction traffic will not use the PROW byway 18 (Saffron
Walden). A before and after survey to be undertaken of the byway and any
damage caused by construction to be repaired to the satisfaction of the highway
authority.
Reason: To ensure that on-street parking of these vehicles in the adjoining streets
does not occur and to ensure that loose materials and spoil are not brought out
onto the highway in the interests of highway safety and Policy DM 1 of the
Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies February 2011.

2. No development shall take place until the details of the treatment of the
pedestrian/cycle only access to PROW byway 18 (Saffron Walden) and the
treatment of the site boundary adjacent to the byway have been submitted to and
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway
Authority. The agreed access and boundary treatment to be implemented at a
timescale agreed with the local authority and maintained thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of accessibility and highway safety and Policy DM 1 of the
Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies February 2011.
3. The section of shared surface adjacent to visitor parking bay V5 on drawing
number 90416.33 rev C to be a minimum width of 6m.
Reason: To allow it to be adopted as part of the turning head for the development
4. The dwellings in the proposed development shall not be occupied until such
time as their associated vehicle parking areas indicated on the approved plans,
has been hard surfaced, sealed and marked out in parking bays. The vehicle
parking shall not be used for any purpose other than the parking of vehicles that
are related to the use of the development unless otherwise agreed with the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that on street parking of vehicles in the adjoining streets does
not occur in the interests of highway safety and that appropriate parking is
provided in accordance with Policy DM8 of the Development Management Policies
as adopted as County Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011.
tran
5. The cycle parking facilities as shown in principle on drawing number 90416.33
rev C are to be provided prior to the first occupation of the dwelling(s) which they
serve, they shall be secure, convenient, covered and retained thereafter.
Reason: To ensure bicycle parking is provided In accordance with Policy DM8 of
the Development Management Policies as adopted as County Council
Supplementary Guidance in February 2011.
6. Prior to occupation of the proposed development, the Developer shall be
responsible for the provision and implementation of a Residential Travel
Information Pack for sustainable transport, approved by Essex County Council.
Reason: In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting
sustainable development and transport.
UDC Housing Enabling Officer

Page 46

9.2

Thank you for consulting me on this application and for confirming that the council
has had the viability appraisal assessed by an independent consultant who have
confirmed that the development would not be viable as existing and therefore
requires a reduction in the affordable housing provision from 14 properties to 7
properties.
Taking the independently assessed viability appraisal into account, there is no
objection to 7 affordable housing properties now being provided on the basis of 6 x
2 bed flats for affordable rent and 1 x 3 bed house for shared ownership.
London Stansted Airport

9.3

No objections.
UK Power Networks

9.4

General comments regarding works near electricity apparatus.
Affinity Water

9.5

No objection, subject to measures to reduce groundwater pollution risk.
Ecological Consultant (Place Services)

9.6

No objections, subject to a condition to secure biodiversity enhancements. Extract:
“Actions by the applicant have resulted in net loss of biodiversity in the form of loss
of Priority habitat and associated species. No effort has been made to mitigate for
this. Under paragraphs 109 and 118 of the NPPF, the planning system is required
to demonstrate no-net-loss of biodiversity and to provide net gains in biodiversity
where possible. We therefore expect all adverse impacts to be fully mitigated, and
in cases of Major development such as this we would expect additional
enhancements to be provided to result in a net gain in biodiversity.”
Infrastructure Planning Officer (Essex County Council)

9.7

Offers no comment on the basis that this is a Reserved Matters application.
Environment Health

9.8

Contamination
No objections subject to conditions
Air Quality
NPPF 2018 supports provision of measures to minimise the impact of
development on air quality by encouraging non car travel and providing
frastructure to support use of low emission vehicles. A condition requiring charging
points for electric vehicles is requested.
Construction Dust Pollution & Noise
This development has the potential to cause noise and dust impacts on
surrounding residential properties and conditions are recommended to protect the
amenity of existing residential properties close to the site:
No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by

Page 47

the local planning authority. The statement shall specify the provisions to be made
for the control of noise and dust emanating from the site and shall be consistent
with the best practicable means as set out in the Uttlesford Code of Development
Practice. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction
period.
Essex Police
9.9

Objection. Full response:
“We are concerned that the proposed boundary treatments only offer a symbolic
boundary and offer no security to the rear of the properties. UDC Local Plan Policy
GEN2 – Design (d) states “It helps to reduce the potential for crime”, when it is
well known that most burglaries occur at the rear of the property this proposal
does not reduce the potential for crime.
We would also like to know what lighting provision is being considered and would
recommend the applicant seeks to achieve a Secured by Design award in respect
of this development for the benefit of the intended residents and their neighbours.”
Lead Local Flood Authority (Essex County Council)

9.10

Having reviewed the Flood Risk Assessment and the associated documents which
accompanied the planning application, we wish to issue a holding objection to the
granting of planning permission based on the following:
The drainage strategy that this application is based on is application
UTT/16/1444/OP. However this drainage strategy is based on application
UTT/13/1937/OP. A drainage strategy should be submitted as part of this new
application that is in line with the ECC SuDS team updated criteria.
Environment Agency

9.11

We have been consulted previously on this development. There do not appear to
be any material changes to the application which would increase potential risk to
controlled waters
We consider that planning permission could be granted to the proposed
development as submitted if the following planning conditions are included as set
out below. Without these conditions, the proposed development on this site poses
an unacceptable risk to the environment and we would wish to object to the
application.

9.12

Anglian Water
No objection subject to the submission of a foul water strategy.

10.

REPRESENTATIONS

10.1

Neighbours were notified of the application by letter, and notices were displayed
near the site and in the local press. The following concerns have been raised in
the submitted representations:

10.2

Comments Received

Officer Comments

Page 48

The proposal represents an
overdevelopment of the site

Inadequate parking provision

Unsuitable access

Lack of affordable

Inadequate infrastructure – education,
healthcare and roads

Impact to wildlife
Increase in air pollution

Unsustainable location

11.

The proposal revises the previous
approved schemes (UTT/16/1444/OP
and UTT/17/3038/DFO) in regards to
affordable housing provision.
Parking provisions are not changed
following the previously approved
scheme.
The access has been assessed by the
Highways Authority and due
consideration is made within the
following report.
The affordable housing provisions are
considered in the report following
submission of viability appraisal and
external assessment.
The proposal revises the previous
approved schemes (UTT/16/1444/OP
and UTT/17/3038/DFO) in regards to
affordable housing provision. Due
consideration has been made in terms
of infrastructure and contributions
secured by S106 agreement.
Due consideration has been made to
ecology within the following report.
This has been assessed by the
Councils Environmental Health Officer
and addressed in the report
The proposal revises the previous
approved schemes (UTT/16/1444/OP
and UTT/17/3038/DFO) which
concluded the site was an appropriate
location for development.

APPRAISAL

The issues to consider in the determination of the application are:
A
B
C
D
E
F
G
H
I
J
K
L
M
N
O
P
Q

Principle of development (S1, H1, H3 and the NPPF)
Character and appearance (S1, GEN2, GEN5, NPPF)
Transport (GEN1, GEN8, NPPF)
Accessibility (GEN2, NPPF)
Crime (GEN2, NPPF)
Amenity (GEN2, GEN4 & NNPF)
Flooding (GEN3, NPPF)
Infrastructure (GEN6)
Biodiversity (GEN7, ENV8, NPPF)
Employment safeguarding (E2, SW6 & NPPF)
Groundwater contamination (ENV12, NPPF)
Air quality (ENV13, NPPF)
Land contamination (ENV14, NPPF)
Affordable housing (H9)
Housing mix (H10 & SHMA)
Housing land supply (NPPF)
Previously developed land (NPPF)

Page 49

A

Principle of development (S1, H1, H3 and the NPPF)

11.1

The principle of residential development was accepted when outline planning
permission was granted under application UTT/16/1444/OP and
UTT17/3038/DFO, this application set out to revise the level of affordable homes
provision.

B

Character and appearance (S1, GEN2, GEN5, NPPF)

11.2

The proposal does not include any other material changes as per previously
except the provision of affordable home. With an open field to the north and
commercial development to the south, the residential design cues for the site are
provided by the contemporary apartment blocks of The Kilns and the more
traditional housing of Tiptoft Lane. It is considered that the proposed development
takes a suitable approach, adopting traditionally-designed buildings and
positioning the larger-scale apartment buildings close to The Kilns.

11.3

The majority of the development comprises two-storey housing, centred on an
area of public open space and positioned in line with the road network to form a
cohesive street scene. Subject to the use of a condition to secure a suitable
landscaping scheme, it is considered that the development is well-designed and
compatible with the character of the area. It is therefore concluded that the
proposal accords with the above policies insofar as they relate to character and
appearance.

C

Transport (GEN1, GEN8 and the NPPF)

11.4

The vehicle movements associated with the development and the access off
Thaxted Road were assessed at in the previously approved outline planning
application (UTT/16/1444/OP). Taking into account the comments of the Highway
Authority, it is considered that there would be no adverse effects on road safety as
a result of the proposed layout, subject to the use of appropriate conditions.
Furthermore, the proposed parking provision is fully compliant with the Council’s
minimum residential parking standards. It is therefore concluded that the proposal
accords with the above transport policies.

D

Accessibility (GEN2, NPPF)

11.5

The proposal would need to comply with accessible and adaptable dwellings
M4(2) of the Building Regulations 2010. Approved Document M, Volume 1 2015
edition and 2016 amendments. Also, in respect to Part M4 (2) paragraph 2.12
relating to car parking, in order to comply with the building regulations, as such
this should be conditioned if approved.

E

Crime (GEN2, NPPF)

11.6

Taking into account the comments of Essex Police, it is considered that the
development generally has regard to the need to design-out crime. The identified
vulnerabilities with respect to boundary treatment and lighting could be addressed
using a condition to secure full details prior to occupation, thereby ensuring
compliance with the above policies insofar as they relate to crime prevention.

F

Amenity (GEN2, GEN4, NPPF)

Page 50

11.7

Taking into account The Essex Design Guide, a non-adopted but useful guidance
document, it is considered that the proposed gardens would be of a suitable size.
All houses would have gardens larger than the recommended minimum size
standard, the flats at Plots 22 and 23 would have more than 25 sq m of communal
garden space each and the flats at Plots 27 – 32 would have separate
terraces/balconies much larger than 5 sq m (12 sq m).

11.8

The minimum standards on privacy and daylight levels indicate that the
development would not have any significant adverse effects on the amenity of
existing or future residents. It is noted that the lower ground level of the
development ensures that there would be no loss of privacy in the gardens of the
dwellings on Tiptoft Lane, as shown in detail on the submitted site section
drawing.

11.9

Finally, it is considered that there would be no significant overbearing impacts or
noise nuisance as a result of the development. It is therefore concluded that the
proposal accords with the above policies insofar as they relate to amenity.

G

Flooding (GEN3, NPPF)
Local Plan Policy GEN3 seeks the protection of functional floodplains and
buildings would not be permitted unless there is an exceptional need. It goes onto
state
"Within areas of flood risk, within the development limit, development will normally
be permitted where the conclusions of a flood risk assessment demonstrate an
adequate standard of flood protection and there is no increased risk of flooding.
Elsewhere outside flood risk areas development must not increase the risk of
flooding through surface water run-off. A flood risk assessment will be required to
demonstrate this. Sustainable Drainage Systems should also be considered as an
appropriate flood mitigation measure in the first instance."

11.10

Policy GEN3 contains the Local Plan policy for flooding, although this has
effectively been superseded by the more detailed and up-to-date flood risk policies
in the NPPF and the accompanying PPG. The SFRA confirms that the site is not
in an area at risk of flooding (Flood risk Zone 1). It is noted the Lead Local Flood
Authority (SUDs) have raised objected to the development because the
sustainable drainage scheme is based on the previous planning approval for the
site (UTT/16/1444/OP) .That being said the only material change to the
development is the reduction of affordable housing. If there was a significant
change to the layout or design of the scheme then further sustainable drainage
details would be requested however as this is not the case it will be unreasonable
to insist on enhanced measures on this site.

11.11

The proposed development would need to be consistent and accord with the
surface water strategy for the wider site. It is a material consideration that planning
permission has been granted on the subject site and the planning applications are
extant. Therefore, should planning permission be approved and as per the
previous approval of development on this site UTT/16/1444/OP a condition should
be included for the submission of further drainage details. Subject to the above,
the development is therefore considered to be in accordance with Policy GEN3 of
the adopted Local Plan

Page 51

11.12

No objections have been raised by then Environment Agency Subject to
conditions

H

Infrastructure (GEN6)

11.13

Infrastructure requirements were assessed in the original outline planning
application, with a S106 agreement securing:
£89,802 toward education,
£9,600 towards health facilities
If the application was approved these contribution will be secured by S106
agreement.

I

Biodiversity (GEN7, ENV8, NPPF)

11.14

Policy GEN7 of the Local Plan states that development that would have a harmful
effect on wildlife will not be permitted unless the need for the development
outweighs the importance of the feature of nature conservation. Where the site
includes protected species, measures to mitigate and/or compensate for the
potential impacts of development must be secured. An ecology statement has
been submitted with the planning application. No objections have been made by
the Councils Ecology Consultant subject to conditions, it is therefore unlikely the
proposed development will have harmful impact to adverse impact on protected
species caused and therefore complies with Policy GEN7.

J

Employment safeguarding (E2, SW6 and the NPPF)

11.15

It is noted that the site is safeguarded for employment use in the Local Plan.
Nevertheless, the principle of residential development was accepted when outline
planning permission was granted and this application seeks to amend the previous
approval.

K

Groundwater contamination (ENV12, NPPF)

11.16

Although the site is not in a ground water protection area due to previous use of
the site the Environment Agency has recommended the imposition of a conditions
for contamination investigation and remediation, this is consistent with the
recommended condition from the Councils Environmental Health Officer. Taking
into consideration the consultation response the development complies with ULP
Policy ENV12.

L

Air quality (ENV13, NPPF)

11.17

NPPF 2018 supports provision of measures to minimise the impact of
development on air quality by encouraging non car travel and providing
infrastructure to support use of low emission vehicles. Taking into consideration
the comments from the Environmental Health Officer a condition requiring
charging points for electric vehicles is requested.

M

Land contamination (ENV14, NPPF)

11.18

ULP policy ENV14 considers the impact of contamination of the site and its impact
to the proposed development. Contamination may be present on the site however
this is considered low. However, there is always a potential risk associated with

Page 52

such commercial sites where made ground may be present. The Environmental
Officer has been consulted and no objections have been made subject the
imposition of conditions. As such it is considered the development will not result in
any harmful impact due to contamination risks and the proposal accords with ULP
Policy ENV14
N

Affordable housing (H9)

11.19

Policy H9 states that the Council will seek to negotiate on a site basis an element
of affordable housing of 40% of the total provision of housing. The Council
commissioned a Strategic Housing Market Area Assessment which identified the
need for affordable housing market type and tenure across the District. As a result
of this the Council will require a specific mix per development.

11.20

The original approved planning application for development of this site
(UTT/17/3038/DFO) included the provision of 14 affordable housing units, this was
secured by S106 agreement. Due to the finical viability of the development this
application now reduces the affordable housing contribution to 20% and includes 7
affordable units.

11.21

The bench mark land value of site is based on the previously approved and extant
planning permission for 34 live/ work units (UTT/1382/01/FUL). This was originally
approved in 2003 with two block of the units being built and permission is extant.
Therefore the existing use value of the site should be based on upon the land
which has the benefit of the approved and implemented consent. This scheme has
been modelled to identify the Residential Land Value to inform the Bench Mark
Land Value.

11.22

The viability assessment submitted has been validated by an independent
assessor that has advised the evidence submitted and concluded the scheme can
only deliver 7 units (20%) of it affordable housing obligation and remain financially
when assessed against the land value of the site as per the above paragraph. The
Councils Housing Enabling Officer has also been consulted and has advised that
taking into account the independently assessed viability appraisal there is no
objection to 7 affordable housing properties now being provided on the basis of 6 x
2 bed flats for affordable rent and 1 x 3 bed house for shared ownership.

11.23

The extant planning permission for 34 live / work units (UTT/1382/01/FUL) does
not benefit from any affordable housing provision. Therefore it is considered the
proposed 7 affordable units would provide a positive contribution compared to
completion of the extent planning permission.

11.24

Taking into consideration the details set out in the viability report and the
independent assessment it is concluded that sufficient information has been
provided to demonstrate that the original scheme of 14 affordable dwelling was not
financially viable and as such the reduction to 7 affordable dwelling will secure the
development. The applicant has indicated that they are prepared to enter into a
Section 106 legal agreement to provide the affordable housing. Subject to this
agreement being completed, the proposal would comply with the requirements of
policy H9.

O

Housing mix (H10 & SHMA)

Page 53

11.25

The majority of the market dwellings would be two- and three-bedroom units, in
accordance with the requirement in Policy H10 to include a significant proportion
of small dwellings in residential developments.

P

Housing land supply (NPPF)

11.26

It is noted that the Council is unable to demonstrate a five-year supply of housing
land, as identified in the most recent housing trajectory document (Oct 2019)
demonstrates 2.68 years housing supply. The Council is therefore unable to
demonstrate a deliverable 5 year supply of housing land and therefore a tilted
balance approach should be applied in the assessment of the application and
whether the positives outcomes of the development will outweigh the harms.

11.27

The development will contribute to a small amount economic benefits including the
creation of a small amount of employment during the construction phase. The
development will include 7 affordable homes. This will actively contribute to the
social role of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF, this is considered
to provide significant weight when making an assessment in this application.

11.28

Nevertheless, the principle of residential development was accepted when outline
planning permission was granted and as such this application considers the
materials change of the development in terms of reduction of affordable homes
provisions.

Q

Previously developed land (111)

11.29

It is noted that the site constitutes previously developed land. Nevertheless, the
principle of residential development was accepted when outline planning
permission (UTT/16/1444/OP) was granted.

12.

CONCLUSION

The following is a summary of the main reasons for the recommendation:
A

The proposal revises the previously approved development, the material changes
include the reduction of affordable homes and provision of electric vehicle
charging points.

B

Sufficient information has been provided to demonstrate that the original scheme
of 14 affordable homes was not financially viable and as such the reduction to 7
affordable dwelling will secure the development.

C

The applicant has agreed to enter into a S106 agreement relating to the provision
of 20% affordable housing for this residential scheme (ULP Policy H9).

D

It is considered the location, layout, scale and appearance of the development is
acceptable. No significant loss of residential amenity will arise from the proposals.
The amenity areas and parking provision are appropriate. Further landscaping and
parking details will be required and has been conditioned. The development
accords with Policies S1, GEN2, GEN8 and the NPPF.

E

The access is considered appropriate, no objections have been made by the
Highways Authority.

Page 54

F

The housing mix for the development is considered acceptable as assessed by
the Councils Housing Enabling Officer and therefore in accordance with ULP
Policy H10.

G

The proposal would not be harmful to protect/priority species subject to
accordance of conditions imposed on the outline planning application (ULP Policy
GEN7).

RECOMMENDATION – CONDITIONAL APPROVAL – SUBJECT TO S106 LEGAL
OBLIGATION

(I)

The applicant be informed that the committee would be minded to
refuse planning permission for the reasons set out in paragraph (III)
unless the freehold owner enters into a binding agreement to cover
the matters set out below under Section 106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compensation
Act 1991, in a form to be prepared by the Interim Head of Legal
Services, in which case he shall be authorised to conclude such an
agreement to secure the following:
(i)
payment of contributions towards primary education provision
(ii)
provision of 20% affordable housing
(iii)
payment of NHS contribution toward health provision
(iii)
Pay Council’s reasonable costs

(II)

In the event of such an agreement being made, the Assistant Director
of Planning shall be authorised to grant permission subject to the
conditions set out below:

(III)

If the freehold owner shall fail to enter into such an agreement, the
Assistant Director of Planning shall be authorised to refuse
permission for the following reasons:
(i)
No contribution to primary education provision
(ii)
No 40% affordable housing provision
No contribution to health provision
Conditions
1

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years
from the date of this decision.
REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

2

Prior to commencement of the development, details of the following external
finishes (including samples and/or photographs as appropriate) must be submitted
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority:
- Walls
- Roof
- Windows

Page 55

- Doors
The development must be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
REASON: To ensure compatibility with the character of the area, in accordance
with Policy S1 and Policy GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) and
the National Planning Policy Framework. This condition must be ‘precommencement’ to ensure that the development is only carried out in accordance
with the above details.
3

Prior to commencement of the development, details of the following hard and soft
landscaping works must be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority:
-

Retained features
New planting
Hard surfaces
Boundary treatment
External lighting (including light emissions)
Pedestrian and cycle access to PROW byway 18 (Saffron Walden)

All hard and soft landscape works must be carried out in accordance with the
approved details prior to occupation of the thirty-fifth dwelling.
All planting, seeding or turfing and soil preparation comprised in the above details
of landscaping must be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons
following the occupation of the buildings, the completion of the development, or in
agreed phases whichever is the sooner, and any plants which within a period of
five years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become
seriously damaged or diseased must be replaced in the next planting season with
others of similar size and species, unless the local planning authority gives written
consent to any variation. All landscape works must be carried out in accordance
with the guidance contained in British Standards, unless otherwise agreed in
writing by the local planning authority.
REASON: To ensure compatibility with the character of the area, to assist in the
prevention of crime and to ensure highway safety and accessibility, in accordance
with Policy S1, Policy GEN2 and Policy GEN1 of the Uttlesford Local Plan
(adopted 2005) and the National Planning Policy Framework. This condition must
be ‘pre-commencement’ to ensure that the development is only carried out in
accordance with the above details.
4

Prior to the commencement of the development, a detailed Construction
Management Plan (CMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority, and the plan shall include the following:
a) The construction programme and phasing
b) Hours of operation, delivery and storage of materials
c) Details of any highway works necessary to enable construction to take place
d) Parking and loading arrangements
e) Details of hoarding
f) Management of traffic to reduce congestion
g) Control of dust and dirt on the public highway
h) Details of consultation and complaint management with local businesses and
neighbours

Page 56

i) Waste management proposals
j) Mechanisms to deal with environmental impacts such as noise and vibration, air
quality and dust, light and odour.
k) Details of any proposed piling operations, including justification for the proposed
piling strategy, a vibration impact assessment and proposed control and mitigation
measures.
l) Loading and unloading of plant and materials;
m) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
n)Wheel and underbody washing facilities
All works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved CMP thereafter.
REASON: To ensure that on-street parking of these vehicles in the adjoining
streets does not occur and to ensure that loose materials and spoil are not brought
out onto the highway in the interests of highway safety and control of
environmental impacts in accordance with ULP Policies GEN1 and GEN4.
5

The dwellings in the proposed development shall not be occupied until such time
as their associated vehicle parking areas indicated on the approved plans, has
been hard surfaced, sealed and marked out in parking bays. The vehicle parking
shall not be used for any purpose other than the parking of vehicles that are
related to the use of the development unless otherwise agreed with the Local
Planning Authority.
REASON: To ensure that on street parking of vehicles in the adjoining streets
does not occur in the interests of highway safety and that appropriate parking is
provided in accordance with Policy DM8 of the Development Management Policies
as adopted as County Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011.

6

The cycle parking facilities as shown in principle on drawing number 90416.33 rev
C are to be provided prior to the first occupation of the dwelling(s) which they
serve, they shall be secure, convenient, covered and retained thereafter.
REASON: To ensure bicycle parking is provided In accordance with Policy DM8 of
the Development Management Policies as adopted as County Council
Supplementary Guidance in February 2011 and in accordance with ULP Policy
GEN1.

7

Prior to slab level of the development hereby approved a biodiversity
enhancement strategy for protected and Priority species shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall
be
retained in that manner thereafter.”
REASON: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA
todischarge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats &
species) and in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7.

Page 57

8

Each dwelling hereby permitted must not be occupied until such time as its
associated vehicle parking area has been formed and provided in accordance with
Drawing No. 90416.30 Rev G.
REASON: To prevent hazardous on-street parking, in accordance with Policy
GEN1 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) and the National Planning
Policy Framework.

9

The eaves and ridge heights of the permitted dwellings relative to each other and
to existing buildings must be constructed as shown on the following drawings:
- Drawing No. 90416.40
- Drawing No. 90416.26 Rev A
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compatibility with the
character and appearance of the area, in accordance with Policy S1 and Policy
GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) and the National Planning
Policy Framework.

10

Prior to occupation of the proposed development, the Developer shall be
responsible for the provision and implementation of a Residential Travel
Information Pack for sustainable transport, approved by Essex County Council.
REASON: In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting
sustainable development and transport and in accordance with ULP Policy GEN1.

11

A minimum of a single electric vehicle charging point shall be installed at each of
the houses. These shall be provided, fully wired and connected, ready to use
before first occupation.
REASON: The requirement of the charging points are required to mitigate the
harm for poor air quality due to the increase in vehicle movement and being within
and in accordance with ULP ENV13 and paragraph 105 of the NPPF

12

Prior to the construction of the development hereby approved above slab level a
scheme for on-site foul and surface water drainage works, including connection
point and discharge rate, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
Prior to the occupation of any phase, the drainage works relating to that phase
must have been carried out in complete accordance with the approved
Scheme.
REASON: To prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from flooding
and in accordance with ULP Policy GEN3.

13

Contamination 1.
As a result of the submitted ground investigation report by GEA ref:J15023, a
detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the
intended use shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority prior to commencement of development. The scheme must include all
works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives, an appraisal of
remedial options, a timetable of works and site management procedures.

Page 58

REASON: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can
be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other
offsite receptors in accordance with ULP Policy ENV14 of the Uttlesford Local
Plan (adopted 2005).
14

Contamination 2.
The remediation scheme for each phase shall be implemented in accordance with
the approved timetable of works. Within 2 months of the completion of measures
identified in the approved remediation scheme, a validation report demonstrating
that the remediation objectives have been achieved must be submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can
be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other
offsite receptors in accordance with ULP Policy ENV14 of the Uttlesford Local
Plan (adopted 2005).

15

Contamination 3.
In the event that contamination that was not previously identified is found at
any time after the development of any phase has begun, development must
be halted on that part of the site affected by the unexpected contamination.
The contamination must be reported in writing within 3 days to the Local
Planning Authority. An assessment must be undertaken in accordance with
the requirements of contamination condition 1 and where remediation is necessary
a remediation scheme, together with a timetable for its implementation, must be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
measures in the approved remediation scheme must then be implemented in
accordance with the approved timetable. Following completion of measures
identified in the approved remediation scheme a validation report must be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in
accordance with contamination 2 condition.
REASON: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can
be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other
offsite receptors in accordance with ULP Policies ENV14 of the Uttlesford Local
Plan (adopted 2005).

Appendix:
Accommodation Schedule
Plot
Plot
1
2
3
4
5

Bedrooms
3
3
4
3
3

Parking
2
2
3
2
2

Page 59

Garden
109
100
127
138
129

Tenure
Affordable
Market
Market
Market
Market

6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
Visitors

3
4
4
3
3
3
3
3
3
2
3
3
3
3
3
3
2
2
3
3
3
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
-

2
3
3
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
9

117
161
239
106
105
110
107
106
102
59
100
100
100
100
102
103
56 (shared)
56 (shared)
149
127
130
12
12
12
12
12
12
59
62
64
-

Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Affordable
Affordable
Affordable
Affordable
Affordable
Affordable
Market
Market
Market
-

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 0100018688

Page 60

Page 61

Agenda Item 5
UTT/19/2149/OP (Takeley)
(Call-in request by Councillor Driscoll if recommended for approval. Reason: 1. Site lies
outside development limits, 2. Impact on character of Canfield Road taking into account
cumulative effects of recent housing developments, 3. Highway safety, including
cumulative impacts).
PROPOSAL:

Outline application with matters of appearance, landscaping and
scale reserved for 5 no. dwellings, including demolition of
existing buildings.

LOCATION:

Sandhurst, Great Canfield Road, Takeley, CM22 6SU

APPLICANT:

Mr & Mrs K & E Pickford.

AGENT:

Mr D Tuttlebury.

EXPIRY DATE:

(Extension of time agreed to 27 November 2020)

CASE OFFICER:

Clive Theobald

1.

NOTATION

1.1

Outside Development Limits.

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The site lies on the east side of Great Canfield Road at Hope End to the north of
Bullocks Lane and comprises for the purposes of the land edged in red a flat and
irregular shaped parcel of gently sloping amenity grassland consisting of 0.475 ha
(stated) positioned between Canfield House lying on its immediate north-west side
and Sandhurst (applicant) lying on its immediate south-east side. Nursery Grove,
a gated residential development comprising recently constructed and sizable
detached dwellings on the site of a former redundant nursery (Canfield Nursery)
lies to the immediate south-east and east of the site divided by a line of boundary
trees extending into a small copse. A field lies to the immediate north of the site
which is screened from the site by an established boundary hedgerow.

2.2

The interior of the site is accessed by a short private track leading from Great
Canfield Road whereby the site entrance gate is recessed from the highway. The
site is substantially screened and obscured from the highway due to a tall and
established clipped conifer hedge which extends along the southern edge of the
track and by frontage boundary vegetation which exists on the northern side of the
site entrance. An old Nissen hut and nearby ridge roofed building used by the
applicant for domestic storage and workshop purposes exist at the front of the site
along with a small collection of cars whereby this workshop/storage area is
similarly screened from the highway. Beyond this, the land has an open interior
extending down to the site’s eastern rear boundary.

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

This outline application with all matters reserved except for Access and Layout
relates to the erection of 5 no. detached dwellings and garages together with new

Page 62

service spine road involving the demolition of the existing storage and workshop
buildings.
3.2

The submitted site layout (revised drawing ref; 2532/1 C) shows a line of five new
dwellings with garages extending down a new spine service road terminating with
a rear hammerhead. Plot 1 would incorporate a frontage dwelling facing onto
Great Canfield Road positioned between Sandhurst and Canfield House, whilst
the dwelling for Plot 5 at the bottom end of the development would be sited within
a return section of the site behind Sandhurst. A short section of private access
track is shown to extend off the rear side of the new spine road hammerhead to
enable private vehicular access to be continue to be gained to the copsed area to
the rear of the site within the control and ownership of the applicant.

3.3

The outline application as submitted is in effect a revised outline application for
refused application UTT/18/1516/OP for the same number of dwellings, but with
the following changes made;




consideration of Layout is now sought for this “re-submitted” outline
application;
frontage visibility splay adjustments have been clarified to address the
cited highways visibility reason for refusal for refused application
UTT/18/1516/OP;
The previously shown curved hammerhead for the proposed spine service
road as shown for application UTT/18/1516/OP is now shown as a straight
Type 3 hammerhead on the advice of ECC Highways.

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

The proposal amounts to “Schedule 2” development (10. Infrastructure Projects (b) Urban development projects…) for the purposes of the Town and Country
Planning (Environmental Impact Regulations) 2017. However, as the development
proposal by reason of its nature, size or location (i) does not exceed 1 hectare of
urban development which is not dwellinghouse development; (ii) does not exceed
150 dwellings and (iii) the overall area of the development does not exceed 5
hectares, the proposal is not EIA development and an environmental assessment
is not required to assess the environmental impacts of the development whereby
the site does not fall within a “sensitive area”.

5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

5.1

The applicant states the following in support of this revised application:


The application as submitted now overcomes the stated single highway
visibility reason for refusal as cited for previously refused application
UTT/18/1516/OP whereby it has since been confirmed that the visibility
splays are within the control of the applicant or within the limits of the
public highway and that a frontage hedge required to be trimmed to
achieve satisfactory forward visibility is also within the control of the
applicant.



The Planning Inspector at appeal for refused application UTT/18/1516/OP
concluded that the development would not result in harm to the character
and appearance of the area and would therefore conform to Policy S7 of
the Council’s adopted Local plan in as much as the development would
protect the particular character of that part of the countryside.

Page 63

6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

6.1

Outline planning permission with all matters reserved except for access for the
demolition of existing outbuildings and the erection of 5 no. dwellings at Land At
Sandhurst, Great Canfield Road, Takeley was refused under the Council’s
delegated powers on 27 November 2018 for the following reasons
(UTT/18/1516/OP refers):
1

The Local Planning Authority recognises that the proposal would contribute
to its current housing shortfall and would create some limited benefits in
terms of economic and social sustainability as set out in the National
Planning Policy Framework (July 2018). Nevertheless, these material
considerations are outweighed in the planning balance by the
unacceptable detrimental impact of the proposed development by reason
of its deep backland type plan layout and number of dwellings proposed at
the site on the environmental sustainability of the area in terms of rural
harm caused particularly by not recognising the linear built form and grain
of Great Canfield Road, which is its main physical characteristic. The
proposal is therefore contrary to ULP Policy S7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan
(adopted 2005) and the National Planning Policy Framework.

2

Insufficient access details have been submitted with the application for the
Local Highway Authority to be able to properly determine whether or not
the means of vehicular access for the proposed development would be
harmful to highway safety, in particular with regard to visibility splays given
the site's location within a 30mph zone where splays of 2.4m x 43m would
need to be achieved in each direction to the nearside edge of the
carriageway from the proposed access where these must be achieved
within the limits of the public highway and/or land in the control of the
applicant. As such, the proposal is considered premature in this respect
and is contrary to ULP Policy GEN1 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted
2005).

6.2

An appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission was subsequently
dismissed on 21 June 2019 on highway visibility grounds (refusal reason 2). In his
appeal decision letter, the Inspector considered that the two main issues for the
appeal were (1) the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the
area and (2) the effect of the proposal on the free and safe movement of users of
the public highway, with particular regard to visibility at the access onto Great
Canfield Road.

6.3

With regard to issue (1), the Inspector observed that most development in the
vicinity of the site along Great Canfield Road consisted of frontage development
set back from the road within plots of varying sizes, although also observed that
the new housing development under construction on the former Canfield Nursery
site by contrast extended back from Bullocks Lane, adding, “This development
reaches the boundary of the appeal site creating a greater depth of development
in the angle created between Canfield Road and Bullocks Lane, establishing a
different localised grain to the more general pattern of development in the
settlement”. The inspector pertinently went onto say that;
“Considering the layout shown on the block plan, the proposal would
provide a dwelling with an active frontage onto Great Canfield Road, not
out of keeping with the general form of development along Great Canfield

Page 64

Road, whilst the plot sizes and footprint of the dwellings shown is similar
to others in the vicinity. The depth of the development would be
comparable to the depth of development resulting from the development
at Canfield Nursery currently under construction and would form a cluster
with that development of greater depth of development within Hope
Green. The site is visually enclosed and so views would be limited by the
intervening vegetation from Great Canfield Road and the wider
countryside”.
6.4

The Inspector concluded that the development would not result in harm to the
character and appearance of the area and so would conform to ULP Policy S7 of
the adopted Local Plan, adding, “In this respect, the proposal therefore also
conforms to the underlying aims of the National Planning Policy Framework”. The
Inspector went onto say that the development would provide benefits in terms of
delivering five additional homes to boost housing supply, that there would be some
benefits to the local economy, and that the site was sited in a relatively accessible
location whereby future occupiers would not need to rely solely on the use of the
car to satisfy their transport needs. Taken together, and given the scale of the
development, the Inspector concurred that these benefits carried moderate weight.

6.5

With regard to issue (2), the Inspector identified harm to the free and safe
movement of users of the public highway contrary to ULP Policy GEN1 of the
adopted Local Plan where this policy was broadly consistent with the aims and
provisions of the NPPF whereby this matter attracted significant weight. As such,
the Inspector concluded in the planning balance that the identified highway harm
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the limited benefits provided by the
scheme when considered against development plan policies and the NPPF when
read as a whole and for this reason dismissed the appeal.

7.

POLICIES
National Policies
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)
ULP Policy S7 – The Countryside
ULP Policy H1 – Housing Development
ULP Policy H4 – Backland Development
ULP Policy H10 – Housing Mix
ULP Policy ENV2 – Development affecting Listed Buildings
ULP ENV14 – Contaminated Land
ULP Policy GEN1 – Access
ULP Policy GEN2 – Design
ULP Policy GEN3 – Flood Protection
ULP Policy GEN7 – Nature Conservation
ULP Policy GEN8 – Vehicle Parking Standards
Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance
SPD “Accessible Homes and Playspace”.
Other Material Considerations

Page 65

Essex Design Guide
ECC Parking Standards – “Design and Good Practice” (September 2009)
UDC Parking Standards (adopted February 2013)
8.
8.1

PARISH COUNCIL COMMENTS

















9.

Great Canfield Road is linear in nature. The proposal represents backland
development which would change the character of the road.
The site is not brownfield land. Nothing to suggest that the applicant’s
storage and workshop buildings are used for commercial purposes;
Comparison should not be made to the former adjacent Canfield Nursery
site approved for housing which had extensive areas of dilapidated
glasshouses etc;
No evidence has been put forward as to why housing should take place at
the application site, which comprises domestic greenfield land;
The proposal fails to say why the site is sustainable;
The proposed development would have a detrimental impact on the local
environment whereby the site is located south of The Flitch Way, an axis
line UDC has sought to protect from further housing developments;
The large proposed housing scheme submitted by Gladman for Great
Canfield Road has been refused and dismissed on appeal since the
previously refused application for this site for five dwellings under
UTT/18/1516/OP on similar Flitch Way environmental grounds;
Hope End does not possess any local services;
The proposal would have cumulative impacts when combined with other
recent developments approved/proposed for the area;
Any contribution to the Council’s current housing shortfall would be
insignificant through the introduction of five dwellings;
Great Canfield Road does not have any footpaths and is narrow in places;
The site access is currently unused;
The latest submitted drawing shows that part of the frontage hedgerow
would have to be removed to facilitate vehicular access;
Great Canfield Road south of Bullocks Lane has protected lane status and
the development would add to its further erosion.
The development would have an impact on the setting of a nearby listed
building (Lavenham).

CONSULTATIONS
Essex County Council Highways

9.1

The impact of the proposal is acceptable to the Highway Authority from a highway
and transportation perspective as shown in principle on DWG no. 2532/1C (dated
12/03/2020), subject to highway conditions.
ECC Ecology

9.2

No objections subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement
measures.
Summary:

Page 66

We have reviewed the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (T4 Ecology, April 2018)
relating to the likely impacts of development on designated sites, protected
species and Priority species / habitats.
We are satisfied that there is sufficient ecological information available for
determination.
This provides certainty for the LPA of the likely impacts on protected and Priority
species &habitats and, with appropriate mitigation measures secured, the
development can be made acceptable.
The mitigation measures identified in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (T4
Ecology, April 2018) should be secured and implemented in full. This is necessary
to conserve and enhance protected and Priority Species. As mentioned in the
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (T4 Ecology, April 2018) this should also include
the submission of a method statement for reptiles and amphibians (herpetofauna).
This should be secured as a condition of any consent.
We also support the proposed reasonable biodiversity enhancements, which have
been recommended to secure measurable net gains for biodiversity, as outlined
under Paragraph 170d of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. The
reasonable biodiversity enhancement measures should be outlined within a
Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy and should be secured as a condition of any
consent.
This will enable LPA to demonstrate its compliance with its statutory duties
including its biodiversity duty under s40 NERC Act 2006. Impacts will be
minimised such that the proposal is acceptable subject to the conditions below
based on BS42020:2013.
NATS
9.3

The proposed development has been examined from a technical safeguarding
aspect and does not conflict with NATS safeguarding criteria. Accordingly, NATS
(En Route) Public Limited Company ("NERL") has no safeguarding objection to
the proposal.
MAG London Stansted Airport

9.4

The Safeguarding Authority for Stansted Airport has assessed this outline
proposal and it’s potential to conflict with aerodrome safeguarding criteria. It has
no aerodrome safeguarding objections to the proposal.
UDC Environmental Health

9.5

Recommended Decision:
Approval subject to conditions.
Contaminated land:
The application site includes a workshop and machinery store. These uses can be
potential sources of contamination harmful to human health, particularly if fuel, oils
or other chemicals have been used or stored. In addition, localised lead
contamination has been confirmed on the adjacent nursery site, and migration of

Page 67

contamination from there to the application site cannot be ruled out. These risks
need to be assessed and controlled to render the site suitable for the proposed
residential use. Conditions are recommended.
10.

REPRESENTATIONS

10.1

5 representations received - object.

10.2

Summary of representations received as follows:






11.

Existing views from Nursery Grove situated to the rear of the site would be
affected by the proposed development;
The development would result in overlooking into adjacent properties;
Site is currently used as a thoroughfare by local deer;
Bats and owls occupy the copsed area to the rear of the site;
Great Canfield Road is narrow for walking.

APPRAISAL

The issues to consider in the determination of the application are:
A
B
C
D
E
F
G

Principle of development with reference to location, countryside protection and
flood risk (NPPF, ULP Policies S7, H1, H4 and GEN3);
Whether access arrangements would be acceptable (ULP Policy GEN1);
Design (ULP Policies GEN2 and GEN8);
Housing Mix (ULP Policy H10);
Listed building protection (ULP Policy ENV2);
Impact on protected or priority species (ULP Policy GEN7);
Contamination (ULP Policy ENV4).

A

Principle of development with reference to location, countryside protection
and flood risk (NPPF, ULP Policies S7, H1, H4 and GEN3)

11.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the
determination of an application for planning permission must be made in
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. The relevant part of the Development Plan comprises the Uttlesford
Local Plan, adopted in 2005.

11.2

The NPPF states at paragraph 11 that plans and decisions should apply a
presumption in favour of sustainable development, adding that for decision making
purposes this means (c) approving development proposals that accord with an upto-date development plan without delay; or (d) where there are no relevant
development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for
determining the application are out-of-date granting permission unless (i) the
application of policies in the Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed, or (ii)
any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh
the benefits when assessed against the policies of the Framework as a whole.

11.3

Paragraph 68 of the NPPF advises that small and medium housing sites can make
an important contribution to meeting the housing requirement of an area, whilst
paragraph 117 states that LPA’s should place a greater emphasis on making more
effective use of previously developed land (PDL) and brownfield sites (except
where this would conflict with other policies in the framework). In this regard, the

Page 68

proposed development as a five dwelling scheme would qualify as a small
deliverable housing scheme for this site, although whether the site can be
described as truly brownfield is open to conjecture, albeit that buildings exist at the
front of the site.
11.4

The site is located at Hope End to the south of Takeley along Great Canfield
Road, which is an unclassified road. The previous delegated report for this
proposed five dwelling scheme under ref; UTT/18/1516/OP identified the site as
being within a relatively sustainable location, being within close distance of
Takeley and village services there. That said, Great Canfield Road does not have
any footpaths or street lighting and this has to be taken into consideration in terms
of site accessibility. Reliance for this committee report for this issue, however, has
been given to the Planning Inspector’s comments for refused application
UTT/18/1516/OP when he stated that it was his view that the site was situated
within a relatively sustainable location whereby the Inspector’s comments are
considered to carry weight for the current resubmission application in this regard in
terms of compliance with the social strand, or objective of the NPPF.

11.5

ULP Policy H1 of the Council’s adopted Local Plan seeks to allocate new housing
for the district for the plan period 2000-2011, to include “Re-use of existing
buildings and previously developed land outside of the urban areas for up to 450
dwellings”. However, this housing policy is out of date against the provisions of the
NPPF given that the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply.
Clearly, five dwellings as proposed for the site would provide some economic
benefits to the local economy (economic strand or objective of the NPPF) as well
as during construction phase and also housing benefits by contributing towards
the Council’s current lack of a 5 year housing land supply, although these benefits
it is suggested would be modest in terms of the scale of development proposed.

11.6

ULP Policy H4 states that development of a parcel of land which does not have a
road frontage will be permitted providing that;
a) There is significant under-use of land and development would make more
effective use of it;
b) There would be no material overlooking or overshadowing of nearby
properties;
c) Development would not have an overbearing effect on neighbouring
properties;
d) Access would not cause disturbance to nearby properties.

11.7

As a housing policy, ULP Policy H4 is also regarded as being out of date, although
the qualifying criteria pertaining to it is still considered relevant to backland
housing proposals. In this regard, the site is currently not being used for any
specific purpose other than being managed as maintained grassland apart from
the applicant’s storage and workshop buildings at the front of the site and it is
considered that the proposed housing scheme would make more effective use of
the land as encouraged by the NPPF. Consideration of impacts on adjacent
residential amenity, namely on Canfield House onto the site’s northern boundary
and Nursery Grove to the rear are matters which can be addressed at detailed
design stage (see further below in this report), whilst the proposed access
arrangements would not have a significantly detrimental impact on adjacent
residents in terms of noise or disturbance. As such, as a small backland housing
scheme, it is considered that the proposal would not be contrary to ULP Policy H4
whereby the Planning Inspector in his appeal decision for the appeal against
refused application UTT/18/1516/OP arrived at a similar view as referenced at

Page 69

paragraph 6.3 of this report above whereby he considered that the site formed a
clustering with Nursery Grove behind.
11.8

ULP Policy S7 states that the countryside will be protected for its own sake and
that planning permission will only be given for development that needs to take
place there or is appropriate to a rural area, adding that development will only be
permitted if its appearance protects or enhances the particular character of the
countryside within which it is set or there are special reasons why the
development in the form proposed needs to be there. Policy S7 has been found by
independent policy review to be partially consistent with the NPPF, which takes a
more positive stance towards house building within the rural areas providing a
presumption in favour of sustainable development can be shown. Notwithstanding
this, Policy S7 has been found through recent appeal decisions to still carry
moderate to significant weight as a saved policy depending on the level of
environmental harm which may be caused by a proposal, although this weight is
required to be balanced against other material planning considerations, including
the provision of housing.

11.9

The site is enclosed to the Great Canfield Road frontage by existing frontage
dwellings, to the rear by the existing copse and the now new housing development
at the former Canfield Nursery site, to open land to the north by a strong boundary
hedgerow running along the site’s northern boundary and to the south by an
existing residential property. As such, the site has a physical self-containment and
cannot be readily appreciated from wider views into it. It is considered from this
that the proposed development would, if carefully designed (see paragraph 11.24
below), have a less than significant impact on the semi-rural character of the area
where the Inspector for the appeal against UTT/18/1516/OP concluded in
consideration of the issue of rural amenity impact that “I conclude that the
development would not result in harm to the character and appearance of the area
and so conforms with Policy S7 of the Local Plan in as much as it protects the
particular character of that part of the countryside”.

11.10

It is considered that the Inspector’s comments continue to hold significant weight
for the current resubmitted application whereby the proposed housing layout
remains unchanged from UTT/18/1516/OP and where a countryside protection
objection cannot be reasonably sustained under Policy S7 to the current
application for the same reason where the proposal would not conflict with the
environmental strand, or objective of the NPPF.

11.11

Officers are aware of the general countryside protection embargo currently being
taken by Members towards any new housing developments proposed to the south
of The Flitch Way whereby the application site lies to the south of this physical
east-west demarcation line. The application by Gladman Developments for a large
housing scheme on the west side of Great Canfield Road which was refused and
dismissed at appeal (UTT/18/0318/OP) is one example of where this Member
approach has been strenuously exercised and the Council is currently processing
an appeal against the Council’s refusal of permission for another large housing
scheme on the east side of Great Canfield Road opposite (UTT/18/3538/OP). Due
consideration therefore has to be given as to whether the current proposal for five
dwellings at Sandhurst should be treated in the same locational context as these
much larger applications either cumulatively or individually where such concerns
have been raised by the Parish Council which has resulted in the Councillor call-in
request for the current application or whether there are material circumstances to
argue that the much smaller scheme for Sandhurst should be treated more
favourably.

Page 70

11.12

As already mentioned in this report, consideration has to be given to the
comments previously expressed by the planning inspector for refused application
UTT/18/1516/OP for the erection of five dwellings at Sandhurst who concluded
that significant countryside harm would not arise through their introduction at the
site. This, it is argued, remains the case for the current resubmitted proposal for
the same number of dwellings as a contained and screened backland housing
scheme unlike the two much larger housing schemes as aforementioned where
the Council considered for those schemes that significant and demonstrable harm
to the appearance and character of the local countryside would arise. As such, it is
the view of your officers that the circumstances are materially different and the
proposal as currently submitted for Sandhurst should be regarded more favourably
against prevailing planning policy should Members concur with the overall
sustainability of the resubmitted proposal.

11.13

ULP Policy GEN3 states that development outside flood risk areas must not
increase the risk of flooding through surface water run-off and that a flood risk
assessment may need to be required to demonstrate this.

11.14

The site lies within an area zoned as Flood Risk 1 on the government’s flood risk
map and is therefore at the lowest risk of fluvial flooding. Accordingly, no flood risk
objections are raised in principle to the proposal under ULP Policy GEN3.

11.15

In light of the above planning assessment and material considerations, it is
considered that the proposed development is acceptable in principle against
national policy and relevant adopted local plan policy.

B

Whether access arrangements would be acceptable (ULP Policy GEN1)

11.16

Access falls to be considered for this outline application. Refused application
UTT/18/1516/OP similarly submitted for the erection of 5 no. dwellings at this site
carried a second reason for refusal stating that insufficient access details had
been submitted to enable the Local Highway Authority to be able to properly
determine whether or not the means of vehicular access for the proposed
development would be harmful to highway safety, in particular with regard to
visibility splays where splays of 2.4m x 43m for a 30mph zone in which the site is
situated would need to be achieved in each direction along Great Canfield Road
within the limits of the public highway and/or land in the control of the applicant.

11.17

A revised block plan drawing accompanies the current application (2532/1 C)
which now clarifies indicated visibility splays at the front of the site for the
proposed new site entrance where it has been confirmed that the splays would be
within the control of the applicant or within highway ownership and which also
shows a short section of hedge fronting onto Sandhurst where this hedge line
would be adjusted to suit visibility splay requirements to achieve the required
splays. The revised drawing now also shows a conventional Type 3 turning head
to allow vehicles to enter and leave the highway in forward gear in accordance
with Essex Design Guide advice.

11.18

ECC Highways have reviewed the site entrance arrangements as now clarified on
the revised drawing and have commented that the access arrangements as now
shown are acceptable from a highways and transportation perspective as the
required frontage visibility splays of 2.4m x 43m for a 30mph zone can be
achieved either within the applicant’s control or within the limits of the highway. As
such, they do not raise any highway objections subject to a Type 3 turning head

Page 71

being constructed for the scheme, notwithstanding that the highways authority
would not be prepared to adopt the proposed development.
11.19

The proposal as submitted now complies with ULP Policy GEN1 of the adopted
Local Plan in light of the revised highway comments and the previously cited
highways reason for refusal for refused application UTT/18/1516/OP has now
been overcome.

C

Design (ULP Policies GEN2 and GEN8)

11.20

Layout falls to be considered for this outline application also. The submitted layout
plan 2532/1 C shows a line of four detached dwellings with detached garages
extending down the site from Great Canfield Road to the rear boundary to include
a dwelling fronting onto Great Canfield Road (Plot 1) with a further detached
dwelling (Plot 5) positioned within a return section of the site off the end of the
indicated hammerhead.

11.21

The uniform line of detached dwellings as indicated would represent the most
appropriate form of housing layout for this site given its elongated shape whereby
the introduction of a frontage dwelling for the scheme as shown between
Sandhurst and Canfield House would maintain the established linear built form of
Great Canfield Road which is a characteristic of this road and which would also
help to frame the remainder of the development to the rear. All of the plots would
have generous rear garden plots with indicated rear garden amenity areas
exceeding 100sqm and would therefore comply with Essex Design Guide
minimum garden standards for 3 and 4 bedroomed dwellings. The dwellings would
have good separation distances between them, whilst a distance of 12m would be
maintained to the northern boundary of the site, including that section of the
boundary which adjoins Canfield House, whilst the frontage layout relationship of
the dwellings along the spine road itself would be strong.

11.22

Each dwelling would have a combination of covered and hardstanding parking
whereby all plots would have double garages shown at 7m x 6m bay compliant
size with the exception of Plot 5 which would have a triple garage/cart lodge,
whilst all hardstandings would be at 5.5m x 2.9m bay compliant size. The
indicated scheme shows that Plots 1, 2, 3 and 4 would have a total of 4 no. on plot
parking spaces meaning that the parking provision for these plots would exceed
the minimum locally adopted parking standard for 3 and 4 bedroomed dwellings,
whilst Plot 5 would have 3 no. spaces and would therefore be parking compliant.
As a result, the required visitor parking requirement of 1.25 no. visitor spaces for
this scheme (5 x 0.25) would be absorbed into this surplus on-plot parking
provision.

11.23

In the circumstances, the layout as shown would comply with ULP Policies GEN2
and GEN8 and is acceptable.

11.24

Other design matters, namely scale, appearance and landscaping are elected
reserved matters and do not fall to be considered for this outline application.
However, it is considered for this proposal that any reserved matters application
subsequently submitted should show a maximum of 1½ storey height dwellings
with uniform ridge heights with possibly a chalet type bungalow to the street
frontage to enable it to be consistent with the existing bungalow at Sandhurst
where it is considered that full two storey height dwellings at this backland site
would not be appropriate as they would dominate the site and its immediate
surroundings, notwithstanding the very large two storey dwellings which exist on

Page 72

the former nursery site at the rear of the site, but which should be read in a
different context.
11.25

The Council is aware of third party concerns which have been expressed relating
to the potential impact of the development on the residential amenities of Canfield
House situated to the immediate north of the site, particularly with regard to
overlooking. Whilst these concerns are noted, this issue is required to be properly
considered at reserved matters stage when details relating to scale, appearance
and landscaping are known and possibly negotiated.

D

Housing Mix (ULP Policy H10)

11.26

It is stated in the application details that the dwellings as shown for this 5 no.
dwelling housing scheme would all be 4 bedroomed, although the applicant has
subsequently confirmed to the Council that the final housing mix could be a mix of
both 3 and 4 bedroomed dwellings to reflect more local housing need
requirements whereupon the dwellings shown for Plots 1 and 2 at and near the
front of the site could comprise the 3 bedroomed units with the remainder of the
dwellings (Plots 3-5) comprising the 4 bedroomed units.

11.27

It is not a requirement of the applicant to confirm housing mix details at this outline
stage. However, the subsequent suggestion by the applicant that the dwellings for
the scheme could be a mix of 3 and 4 bedroomed dwellings as against the binary
schedule of 4 bedroomed units as accompanying the original application details is
welcomed and would be more in line with local housing needs policy (ULP Policy
H10).

11.28

The site has a stated area of 0.475 ha and it has since been confirmed by
calculation that the site has an area of 0.454 ha, so less than the applicant’s
stated figure. Given this, and given the housing scheme is for only five dwellings, a
requirement for affordable housing for this small scheme does not arise.

E

Listed building protection (ULP Policy ENV2)

11.29

The delegated officer report for refused application UTT/18/1516/OP assessed the
impact of the proposed development on the nearest listed heritage asset, namely
Lavenham situated to the south of the application site along Great Canfield Road
at its junction with Bullocks Lane. It was assessed for that application that
Lavenham is situated too far from the site at a distance of 50m to be materially
affected by the proposal and this remains the case for the current application
whereby Place Services Heritage have not been consulted on the proposal. As
such, no heritage objections are raised under ULP Policy ENV2.

F

Impact on protected or priority species (ULP Policy GEN7)

11.30

The site comprises maintained open grassland enclosed by native hedging along
its northern boundary, whilst a small copse exists to the rear eastern boundary
with the new housing development to the rear (Nursery Grove). A Preliminary
Ecological Assessment (PEA) has been conducted of the site which has found no
evidence of bats using the existing old frontage buildings at the site or that these
buildings have the potential to represent a suitable bat roosting site. The survey
has also found that no boundary trees have roosting potential, albeit that bats are
likely to use the site as a commuting corridor to and from the copse to the rear of
the site. As such, the assessment has recommended that no further bat surveys
are either required or necessary, but that a bat friendly lighting scheme is

Page 73

recommended. The survey has further found that no Great Crested Newts or
reptiles would be affected by the proposal and that no badger setts were found,
although recommends that suitable protective fencing be deployed during any
construction works on the precautionary principle.
11.31

Place Services Ecology have commented on the submitted PEA and have stated
that they do not have any ecology objections to the proposal subject to the
imposition of ecology conditions relating to mitigation and enhancement
measures, the submission of a Herpetofauna Method Statement and the
submission of a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for Protected and Priority
species. No objections are raised on this basis under ULP Policy GEN7.

G

Contamination (ULP Policy ENV4)

11.32

The existing workshop and storage buildings at the front of the site are known to
have been used by the applicant for many years, possibly at some time for light
industrial use. As such, the UDC Environmental Health Officer has recommended
that the standard contamination/remediation conditions be imposed on any grant
of planning permission as a precaution to protect the end use of the site as a
housing scheme and in order to protect controlled waters. No objections are raised
under ULP Policy ENV14 subject to the imposition of these conditions.

12.

CONCLUSION

The following is a summary of the main reasons for the recommendation:
A

The principle of backland housing development at this semi-rural location lying
outside development limits is considered acceptable taking into account
comments previously expressed by an appeals inspector for refused application
UTT/18/1516/OP for five dwellings at this site who concluded that the site lies
within a sustainable location relative to local services and that the development by
reason of its scale and layout would not result in harm to the character and
appearance of the area, particularly having regard to the presence of the adjacent
new housing development at the former Canfield Nursery site.

B

Proposed access arrangements are considered acceptable to ECC Highways
following the submission of a revised site layout drawing for the current application
showing clarified frontage site splays and a revision to the proposed spine road
hammerhead whereby the highway visibility splay reason for refusal cited for
refused application UTT/18/1516/OP has now been overcome through this
resubmission scheme.

C

The layout of the proposed development for five dwellings is considered
acceptable in design terms. Scale, appearance and landscaping are reserved
matters when the impacts of the development on adjacent residential amenity
would also be considered.

D

The proposed housing mix as an indicated three and four bedroomed housing
scheme is considered acceptable whereby the precise housing mix would be
agreed at reserved matters stage.
A policy requirement for affordable housing for this small scheme does not arise
given that the site has a calculated site area of less than 0.5 ha and given the

Page 74

housing scheme is for only five dwellings where this issue was not raised for
application UTT/18/1516/OP.
E

The proposal would not have a material impact on the nearest listed building to the
site given the separation distance involved.

F

The proposal would not have an impact on protected or priority species subject to
appropriate ecology mitigation measures being implemented as recommended by
ECC Place Services.

G

There is a possibility that the front end of the site may be contaminated given its
historic/present use as storage and workshop buildings and it is recommended
that standard contamination/remediation conditions be imposed on the
precautionary principle in the interests of human and environmental protection.

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVAL WITH CONDITIONS
Conditions
1.

Approval of the details of scale, appearance and landscaping (hereafter called
"the Reserved Matters") shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority in
writing before development commences and the development shall be carried out
as approved.
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country
Planning (General Development Procedure) Order 1995 and Section 92 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2.

Application for approval of the Reserved Matters shall be made to the Local
Planning Authority not later than the expiration of 3 years from the date of this
permission.
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country
Planning (General Development Procedure) Order 1995 and Section 92 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

3.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun no later than the expiration of 2
years from the date of approval of the last of the Reserved Matters to be
approved.
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country
Planning (General Development Procedure) Order 1995 and Section 92 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

4.

Prior to occupation of any dwelling, the provision of a private drive shall be formed
at right angles to Great Canfield Road, to include but not limited to: minimum 5
metre access width and clear to ground visibility splays with dimensions of 2.4
metres by 43 metres in both directions as measured from and along the nearside
edge of the carriageway as shown on revised drawing 2532/1 C. Such vehicular
visibility splays shall be retained free of any obstruction at all times.

Page 75

REASON: To ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a controlled
manner and to provide adequate inter-visibility between vehicles using the road
junction and those in the existing public highway the interest of highway safety in
accordance with ULP Policy GEN1 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).
5.

No dwelling shall be occupied until the associated parking and/or turning head
indicated on the approved plans has been provided. The vehicle parking and
turning heads shall be retained in this form at all times.
REASON: To ensure that on-street parking of vehicles in the adjoining streets
does not occur in the interest of highway safety and that appropriate parking is
provided in accordance with ULP Policies GEN1 and GEN8 of the Uttlesford Local
Plan (adopted 2005).

6.

Any gates provided at the vehicular access shall be inward opening only and shall
be set back a minimum of 6 metres from the back edge of the carriageway.
REASON: To enable vehicles using the access to stand clear of the carriageway
whilst gates are being opened and closed in the interest of highway safety in
accordance with ULP Policy GEN1 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

7.

All of the dwellings approved by this permission shall be built to Category 2:
Accessible and adaptable dwellings M4 (2) of the Building Regulations 2010
Approved Document M, Volume 1 2015 edition.
REASON: To ensure compliance with ULP Policy GEN2 (c) of the Uttlesford Local
Plan 2005 and the Council’s adopted SPD “Accessible Homes and Playspace”.

8.

All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in
accordance with the details contained in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (T4
Ecology, April 2018) as already submitted with the planning application and
agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to determination.
This may include the appointment of an appropriately competent person, e.g. an
ecological clerk of works (ECoW,) to provide on-site ecological expertise during
construction. The appointed person shall undertake all activities, and works shall
be carried out, in accordance with the approved details.
REASON: To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority species and allow the
LPA to discharge its duties under the UK Habitats Regulations, the Wildlife &
Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority
habitats & species) in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local
Plan (adopted 2005).

9.

Prior to commencement of development, a Herpetofauna Method Statement shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. This will
contain precautionary mitigation measures and/or works to reduce potential
impacts to herpetofauna during the construction phase.
The measures and/works shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the
approved details and shall be retained in that manner thereafter.
REASON: To conserve Protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the UK Habitats Regulations 2017, the Wildlife &
Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority

Page 76

habitats & species) in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local
Plan (adopted 2005).
Pre-commencement condition justification: To ensure that any ecology impacts
arising from the development hereby approved can be appropriately mitigated.
10.

Prior to slab level, a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for Protected and Priority
species shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority.
The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
1. Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement
measures;
2. detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
3. locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and
plans;
4. persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
5. details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall
be retained in that manner thereafter.
REASON: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA
to discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats &
species) in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan
(adopted 2005).

11.

No development, other than that required to be carried out as part of a scheme of
investigation or remediation shall take place until an assessment of the nature and
extent of contamination has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. This assessment must be undertaken by a competent
person, and shall assess any contamination on the site, whether or not it
originates on the site. It must include:
(i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;
(ii) an assessment of the potential risks to human health, building services and
controlled waters;
(iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s).
This must be undertaken by a competent person, in accordance with DEFRA and
the Environment Agency's "Model Procedures for the Management of Land
Contamination, CLR11", and take account of Essex guidance “Land Affected by
Contamination: Technical Guidance for Applicants and Developers 3rd edition”,
available on the UDC website.
REASON: In the interests of human and environmental protection in accordance
with ULP Policy ENV14 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).
Pre-commencement condition justification: To ensure that the resulting
development does not prejudice the health of future occupiers of the dwellings or
prejudice the status of the natural environment.

12.

No development shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme to bring the
site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to

Page 77

human health, building services and controlled waters has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation
objectives and remediation criteria, and a timetable of works and site management
procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated
land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the
intended use of the land after remediation.
REASON: In the interests of human and environmental protection in accordance
with ULP Policy ENV14 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).
Pre-commencement condition justification: To ensure that the resulting
development does not prejudice the health of future occupiers of the dwellings or
prejudice the status of the surrounding natural environment.
13.

The remediation scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved
timetable of works prior to the commencement of development (other than that
required to carry out the remediation) unless otherwise agreed by the local
planning authority. Within 2 months of the completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme, a validation report (that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation carried out) must be submitted to the Local
Planning Authority.
REASON: In the interests of human and environmental protection in accordance
with ULP Policy ENV14 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

14.

In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported
immediately to the Local Planning Authority and work halted on the part of the site
affected by the unexpected contamination.
An assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of
Condition 11 above, and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme,
together with a timetable for its implementation, must be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the
requirements of Condition 12 above.
The measures in the approved remediation scheme must then be implemented in
accordance with the approved timetable. Following completion of measures
identified in the approved remediation scheme, a validation report must be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in
accordance with Condition 13 above.
REASON: In the interests of human and environmental protection in accordance
with ULP Policy ENV14 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

Page 78

Page 79

Agenda Item 6
UTT/20/0234/FUL
Call-in request by Councillor Hargreaves if recommended for approval
Reason: For non-compliance with GEN2 and S7

PROPOSAL:

Proposed change of layout to that approved under
UTT/19/0937/FUL (Retrospective change of use from agricultural
land to residential garden space, retention of bunding and
landscaping).

LOCATION:

Land adjacent to Branksome (16 Pastures Close), Whiteditch
Lane, Newport, CB11 3UD.

APPLICANT:

Mr W Bampton, Pelham Structures Ltd.

AGENT:

Mr. Christopher Hennem, Pelham Structures Ltd.

EXPIRY DATE:

14.04.2020 (extension of time agreed to 27.11.2020).

CASE OFFICER:

Matthew Cranitch

1.

NOTATION

1.1

Outside Development Limits. Countryside.

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The application site is identified on the application form as the land adjacent to
Branksome which is the rear residential gardens of 16 and 17 Pastures Close.

2.2

The site is the located at the western end of Pastures Close. There are dwellings
to the east and north of the site and open agricultural land to the west and south.
To the south east of the application site are the residential properties of
Meadowsweet Way.

2.3

The site forms part of the Pastures Close development which was a development
of 20 houses that was granted approval in July 2017 (UTT/16/2024/FUL).

2.4

There is extant planning permission for an earth bund to be constructed on the site
approved under UTT/19/0937/FUL and an earth bund has already been
constructed.

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

This proposal relates to the following development/works:

Page 80

Proposed change of layout to that approved under UTT/19/0937/FUL
(retrospective change of use from agricultural land to residential garden space,
retention of bunding and landscaping)
The proposed changes are to the form and height of the approved earth bund, the
repositioning of a pond, and landscaping.
4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

The proposal is not EIA development and an environmental assessment is not
required to assess the environmental impacts of the development whereby the site
does not fall within a “sensitive area”.

5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

5.1



The applicant states that he already has extant approval for an earth bund at
the application site approved under UTT/19/0937/FUL.



However due to regrading and settlement of the soil he wants to change the
layout of the earth bund.



The changed layout of the earth bund would mean it would have two plateaus
now as opposed to one.



The first plateau of the proposed bund would be lower than that approved
under UTT/19/0937/FUL and the second section would either be the same
height or marginally higher than that approved.



Overall the applicant contends that this new layout would reduce the impact of
the earth bund on the site and on the surrounding area more generally. It
would also make the first section of the bund more user friendly for residents
of 16 & 17 Pastures Close.



The applicant states that the changed layout would not have a detrimental
impact on biodiversity in any way.



The applicant has submitted a section plan of the existing approved layout of
the earth bund compared with the proposed earth bund, as well as
photographs of the site and an ecological survey and biodiversity checklist.

6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

6.1

UTT/19/0937/FUL - Retrospective change of use from agricultural land to
residential garden space, retention of bunding and landscaping – APPROVED
13/09/2019
UTT/16/0786/DFO - Details following outline application UTT/14/1794/OP (for the
erection of 15 no. dwellings and alteration of access), details of layout, access,
scale, landscaping and appearance- APPROVED
UTT/14/1794/OP- Outline application with all matters reserved for 15 residential
units (incorporating alteration to access road and garage position previously
approved under UTT/13/2973/FUL)- ALLOWED

Page 81

7.

POLICIES
National Policies
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)
ULP Policy S7 – The Countryside
ULP Policy GEN2 – Design
ULP Policy GEN7 – Nature Conservation
ULP Policy ENV3 – Open Spaces and Trees
Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance
None
Other Material Considerations
The emerging Newport, Quendon & Rickling neighbourhood plan

8.

PARISH COUNCIL COMMENTS

8.1

Object

9.



A variation in the layout could surely have been dealt with under the existing
permission so this application wastes everyone’s time.



The Parish Council’s objections to the earlier application (UTT/19/0937/FUL –
approved September 2019) still stand and are related to the impact the earth
bund has on the amenity of neighbouring properties and surface water
drainage.

CONSULTATIONS
Place Services (Ecology)

9.1

No objection - subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement
measures.
Summary:
We have reviewed the additional Plans and Photographs supplied and base our
response on the Revised Site Layout, Location and Section Plan (Drawing No.
490.500E) along with the Ecology Report (A. R. Arbon MBE), previously uploaded,
relating to the likely impacts of development on designated sites, protected &
Priority species & habitats.
The revised plans for the proposed site layout still show the inclusion of new
Hornbeam and Laurel Hedgerow. We remain satisfied with the inclusion of native
Hornbeam, but do not recommend that Laurel is used within the planting as this
invasive species is listed within the GB non-native species secretariat and is

Page 82

known for its rapid growth (through its ability to be spread by birds through the
seeds in their droppings) and its ability to out-compete and displace native plant
species.
We are satisfied that there is sufficient ecological information available for
determination.
This provides certainty for the LPA of the likely impacts on protected and Priority
species/habitats and, with appropriate mitigation measures secured, the
development can be made acceptable.
The mitigation measures identified in the Ecology Report (A. R. Arbon MBE)
should be secured and implemented in full. This is necessary to conserve and
enhance protected and Priority Species.
We also support the proposed reasonable biodiversity enhancements, which have
been recommended within the Ecology Report (A. R. Arbon MBE) in order to
secure measurable net gains for biodiversity, as outlined under Paragraph 170d of
the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. The reasonable biodiversity
enhancement measures should be outlined within a Biodiversity Enhancement
Layout. This includes the creation of new ponds.
This will enable LPA to demonstrate its compliance with its statutory duties
including its biodiversity duty under s40 NERC Act 2006.
Impacts will be minimised such that the proposal is acceptable subject to the
conditions below based on BS42020:2013.
Submission for approval and implementation of the details below should be a
condition of any planning consent.
UDC - Trees and Landscape Officer
No objection
Summary:
The decision was taken to approve the retention of the earthwork under
UTT/19/0937/FUL. This decision was made in part on the grounds that the
earthwork did not significantly visually impact on the wider landscape. I suggest
that the same test is applied to the current application, and on that basis I raise no
objection to the proposals. The proposed native species planting to the boundaries
as detailed in the submitted drawing No.490.502 is considered appropriate.

10.

REPRESENTATIONS

10.1

2 representations received.

10.2

Summary of representations received as follows:
 The bund (already created) has a detrimental impact on the adjoining
countryside. This second application is just as intrusive as the first, contrary to
policy S7.

Page 83

11.



The residents alongside the bund both on Pastures Close and Meadowsweet
Way will have their privacy and amenities severely affected due to the raised
height of the bund. There will also be an adverse effect on the neighbouring
properties on the Wicken Lea Estate



There is no indication how the applicant intends to divert the water flow to
prevent further flooding either onto Whiteditch Lane or into the Wicken Lea
development where there is already considerable concerns regarding
drainage. Therefore there are sustainability concerns contrary to policies GEN
1, 2, 3.



The land is agricultural and should remain so as this is becoming a reducing
commodity within our village, contrary to policy S7



The view of original natural landscape beyond the application site is now
partially obscured by the bund (from Meadowsweet Way).

APPRAISAL

The issues to consider in the determination of the application are:
A
B
C
D

Character and appearance (NPPF, ULP Policies S7 and GEN2);
Residential amenity (ULP Policy GEN2);
Nature Conservation (ULP Policies GEN7);
Drainage and Flood Risk (ULP Policy GEN3).

A

Character and appearance (NPPF, ULP Policies S7 and GEN2)

11.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that
planning applications must be determined in accordance with the planning policies
set out in the Adopted Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. The adopted development plan for Uttlesford comprises the Uttlesford
Local Plan which was adopted in 2005.

11.2

The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in July
2018 and updated in February 2019. It provides the statutory guidance for
determining planning applications at a national level. It represents the most up to
date central government planning policy guidance and as such is a material
consideration for the determination of planning applications.

11.3

Paragraph 11d) of the NPPF states that where there are no relevant development
plan policies, or the policies which are the most important for determining the
application are out of date, the LPA should grant planning permission unless (i)
the application of policies in the Framework that protect areas or assets of
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development or (ii)
any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh
the benefits when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a
whole.

11.4

ULP Policy S7 of the Council’s adopted Local Plan states that planning permission
will only be given for development that needs to take place there, or is appropriate
to a rural area, adding that there will be strict controls on new building. Policy S7

Page 84

also states that development will only be permitted if its appearance protects or
enhances the particular character of the part of the countryside within which it is
set or there are special reasons why the development in the form proposed needs
to be there.
11.5

ULP Policy GEN2 states amongst other things development will not be permitted
unless it a) is ‘compatible with the scale, form, layout, appearance and materials of
surrounding buildings’.

11.6

The emerging Newport, Quendon & Rickling neighbourhood plan is at examination
stage and UDC has not issued a decision statement detailing its intention to send
the neighbourhood plan to a referendum (as set out under Regulation 18 of the
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012). Therefore the emerging
plan can only be given limited weight in assessing the application

11.7

The principle of constructing an earth bund at the site has already been
established following on from the approval of application UTT/19/0937/FUL in
September 2019.

11.8

There is therefore extant permission for an earth bund to exist at the site and an
earth bund has already been constructed at the site.

11.9

In relation to the earth bund therefore this application is solely concerned with the
merits or otherwise of a proposed change to the layout of the approved earth
bund. The proposed layout change is reflective of the layout of the earth bund as it
exists at present.

11.10

Both the approved earth bund layout and the proposed earth bund layout have a
similar depth and width with approximate maximum dimensions, including the
sloped area around the bund, of 48 metres deep by 40 metres wide, occupying an
approximate area of 1,800 m 2.

11.11

The difference between the two layouts is therefore to do with their heights and
the introduction of a second plateau into the proposed scheme.

11.12

The approved scheme allows for steps up to the earth bund which start
approximately 17 metres from the rear elevations of the dwellings. These steps
rise up from ground level over a distance of approximately 1.5 metres to a plateau
which at this point is approximately 1.2 metres high. The height of the earth bund
then rises steadily over a distance of approximately 39 metres to a highest point of
approximately 1.7 metres, before tapering down to an endpoint which is
approximately 1.5 metres high. The earth bund then slopes down to ground level
over a distance of approximately 3.5 metres to just before the sites western
boundary.

11.13

The proposed scheme is initially the same as the approved scheme. As with the
approved scheme it proposes a flight of steps up to the earth bund approximately

Page 85

17 metres from the rear elevations of the dwellings. As with the approved scheme
these steps rise up from ground level over a distance of approximately 1.5 metres
to a plateau which is approximately 1.2 metres high.

11.14

The proposed scheme then differs from the approved scheme in that for
approximately the next 15 metres the earth bund gradually reduces in height too
approximately 0.9 metres.

11.15

A second row of steps is then proposed which rise over a distance of
approximately 1 metre to a height of approximately 1.6 metres.

11.16

The proposed layout then continues for approximately 25 metres at either the
same height as the approved scheme or very slightly higher, by 100-150 mms,
than the approved scheme. The proposed scheme ends at the same point and in
the same way as the approved scheme.

11.17

Therefore, the first section of the earth bund under the proposed layout will be
lower than the approved layout of the earth bund for the first 15 metres of the bund
by up to approximately 0.7 metres. This reduction in height will reduce the impact
the earth bund has on the surrounding area.

11.18

The second section of the proposed earth bund will be the same height or 100-150
mms higher than the approved layout for the earth bund. This will have a
negligible difference on the impact the proposed earth bund will have on the
surrounding area.

11.19

Overall therefore the proposed layout for the earth bund will lead to a reduction in
the impact it has on the surrounding area when compared to the impact it would
have if constructed to the approved layout.

11.20

The Trees and Landscapes Officer at UDC has been consulted and raised no
objection to the new layout. He concluded on the originally approved application
that the earth bund ‘did not significantly visually impact on the wider landscape’.
He suggests that the same test is applied to the current application, and on that
basis he raises ‘no objection to the proposals’.

B

Impact on residential amenity (ULP Policy GEN2)

11.21

The Case Officer’s report for the approved layout of the earth bund under
application UTT/19/0937/FUL found that ‘due to the positioning and scale of the
bund the development will not result in any significant level of harm to the living
condition of neighbouring properties from loss of daylight or an overbearing
impact’.

11.22

The Case Officers report continued ‘due to the distance to neighbouring properties
the introduction of the bund is not considered to result in any significant loss of

Page 86

privacy that will have any harmful impact to neighbouring properties and therefore
it is in accordance with the aims of ULP Policy GEN2 and the NPPF’.

11.23

As already stated in part A of this appraisal the proposed layout of the earth bund
will be up to approximately 0.7 metres lower than the approved layout of the earth
bund for the first 15 metres approximately, and the same or only 100-150 mms
higher for the remaining approximately 23 metres.

11.24

Therefore the proposed layout of the earth bund, due to having a lower first
section and a negligibly higher second section, will somewhat reduce the impact
the earth bund would have on neighbouring amenity.

11.25

Therefore the new proposed layout is an improvement on the existing permission
for the layout of the earth bund in regards to its impact on neighbouring amenity.

C

Nature Conservation (ULP Policy GEN7)

11.26

The applicants submitted an ecology assessment with the application. Essex
County Council Ecology officers from Place Services have been consulted and
have raised no objections to the application.

11.27

A pond from the approved application which spanned both residential gardens at
the site has been moved to the residential garden of 17 Pastures Close. Some
hornbeam hedges have been proposed for the start of the second higher section
of the bund.

11.28

Due to the sites nature, and the fact that an earth bund is already in existence on
the site, it is not considered the earth bund will result in any potential loss of
habitat or harm to biodiversity.

11.29

The Essex County Council Ecology officer has recommended some conditions be
placed on the application if approved.

D

Drainage and Flood Risk (ULP Policy GEN3)

11.30

The Case Officer’s report for the approved layout of the earth bund under
application UTT/19/0937/FUL found that the due to the ‘scale of the site and its
location it is considered the development will not lead to any significant increase in
flood risk’.

11.31

The current proposal proposes a changed layout of the earth bund, but the layout
does not impact on the veracity of the Case Officer’s assessment regarding
flooding under application UTT/19/0937/FUL, and the possibility of flooding has
not been increased by the proposed layout.

Page 87

12.

CONCLUSION

The following is a summary of the main reasons for the recommendation:
A

B

C

C

The principle for the development of an earth bund at the application site has
already been established under extant permission UTT/19/0937/FUL and an earth
bund is already legally in existence at the site.
The proposed new layout of the earth bund reduces the impact it has on both the
surrounding area and neighbours due to the reduction in height of the first section
of the earth bund.
The second section of the proposed layout of the earth bund does not increase the
impact it would have on the surrounding area or neighbours when compared to the
already approved layout.
The proposed new layout does not lead to any increased detrimental impact on
nature conservation or flooding and is acceptable to both UDC’s Trees and
Landscapes Officer and the Ecology Officer from Place Services Essex County
Council.

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVAL WITH CONDITIONS
Conditions

1.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved plans as set out in the Schedule.
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt as to the nature of the development hereby
permitted, to ensure development is carried out in accordance with the approved
application details, to ensure that the development is carried out with the minimum
harm to the local environment, in accordance with the Policies of the Uttlesford
Local Plan (adopted 2005) as shown in the Schedule of Policies

2.

All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in
accordance with the details contained in Ecology Report (A. R. Arbon MBE) as
already submitted with the planning application and agreed in principle with the
local planning authority prior to determination.
This may include the appointment of an appropriately competent person e.g. an
ecological clerk of works (ECoW,) to provide on-site ecological expertise during
construction. The appointed person shall undertake all activities, and works shall
be carried out, in accordance with the approved details.”
REASON: To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority species and allow the
LPA to discharge its duties under the UK Habitats Regulations, the Wildlife &
Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority
habitats & species) in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local
Plan (adopted 2005).

3.

Within six months of the date of this permission a Biodiversity Enhancement
Layout, providing the finalised details and locations of enhancement measures
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The enhancement measures shall be implemented in accordance with the
approved details and all features shall be retained in that manner thereafter.

Page 88

REASON: To enhance Protected and Priority Species and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats &
species) in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan
(adopted 2005).
4.

Landscaping shall be carried out in strict accordance with submitted plan 490.502
(28 April 2020).
All planting and seeding shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding
seasons following the completion of the development, and any plants which within
a period of five years from the completion of the development die, are removed or
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting
season with others of similar size and species, unless the local planning authority
gives written consent to any variation. All landscape works shall be carried out in
accordance with the guidance contained in British Standards, unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
REASON: The use of this condition is required to ensure compatibility with the
character of the area in accordance with ULP Policies S7 and GEN2 of the
Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005)

5.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that
Order with or without modification), no development within Class E of Part 1 of
Schedule 2 and Class A of Part 2 of Schedule 2 of the Order shall take place
without the prior written permission of the local planning authority.
REASON: To prevent the site becoming overdeveloped and in the interests of the
amenity of the occupiers of adjoining dwellings in accordance with ULP Policies
S7 and GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

Page 89

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 0100018688

Organisation: Uttlesford District Council
Department:

Planning

Date:

18 November 2020

Page 90

Agenda Item 7
UTT/20/1334/FUL
Call-in request by Councillor Hargreaves if recommended for approval
Reason: ‘The wall and the pavement are not sympathetic to local character and are not
compatible with the scale, form, layout, appearance and materials of surrounding buildings'
boundary treatments. The development therefore has a detrimental impact on the
character of the area contrary to GEN2 and S7 and Section 12 of the NPPF 'Good Design'
and NQR Plan policy NQRHD2 Housing Design which states that: ‘To be supported a
development proposal will be expected to, through layout, design and materials, and
where it is appropriate: a. Relate well to its site and its surroundings’
PROPOSAL:

Application for the erection of a front section of boundary wall to
dwelling approved under planning permission UTT/18/1486/FUL.

LOCATION:

Land adjacent to Branksome (1 Pastures Close), Whiteditch Lane,
Newport, CB11 3UD.

APPLICANT:

Mr W Bampton, Pelham Structures Ltd.

AGENT:

Mr. Christopher Hennem, Pelham Structures Ltd.

EXPIRY DATE:

18.08.2020 (extension of time agreed to 27.11.2020).

CASE OFFICER:

Matthew Cranitch

1.

NOTATION

1.1

Outside Development Limits. Countryside.

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The application site is 1 Pastures Close identified on the application form as the
land adjacent to Branksome. The site is located on the northern side of the
junction of Pastures Close and Whiteditch Lane.

2.2

A red brick wall has been erected on the boundary of the site and Whiteditch
Lane. Beyond the wall is a footpath and then the highway. The entrance to the
dwelling is through an access point close to the centre of the wall. The red brick
wall is joined to a larger flint wall at the side of the site on Pastures Close which
continues around to the rear of the site.

2.2

The application is deemed to be in the countryside but is surrounded by built form
with a dwelling known as Oak Tree House opposite the site on the eastern side of
Whiteditch Lane, and dwellings at Bury Grove to the north, Meadowsweet Way &
Hills Drive to the south, and Pastures Close to the west. The site forms part of the
Pastures Close development which was a development of 20 houses that was
granted approval in July 2017 (UTT/16/2024/FUL).

3.

PROPOSAL

Page 91

3.1

This proposal relates to the following development/works:
The erection of a front section of boundary wall to a dwelling approved under
planning permission UTT/18/1486/FUL.
It is proposed to dismantle the existing brick wall at the front of the site and
reconstruct it nearer the dwelling and further away from the highway to meet
Highways Authority concerns re visibility splays. These concerns were the sole
reason for an earlier refusal of planning permission for the existing wall,
application UTT/20/0124/FUL.

3.2

Planning permission UTT/18/1486/FUL allowed for native species hedging and
trees as the boundary treatment between the site and Whiteditch Lane. It also
allowed for a footpath beyond the site between the highway and the site.

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

The proposal is not EIA development and an environmental assessment is not
required to assess the environmental impacts of the development whereby the site
does not fall within a “sensitive area”.

5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

5.1

(Extracted and summarised from applicant’s agent’s planning statement June 2020
and subsequent emails to the Council):


The boundary treatment on the approved plans for the erection of 1 Pastures
Close under application UTT/18/1486/FUL shows the proposed boundary
treatment all around the site to be a close boarded fence with native species
hedging and trees on either side of it.



Due to the level changes at the front of the site the boundary treatment was
also required to act as a retaining structure, hence the decision to change it
from a fence to a brick wall.



A wall has already been constructed along the front of the property as the
applicant didn’t appreciate that it required planning permission



The existing wall ranges in height from 800mm to 1m with brick piers that
range between 1.1m to 1.28m. A wall that fronts a highway is allowable up to 1
metres in height under permitted development rights. Therefore it is only the
height of the brick piers which means that planning permission is required for
this wall.



The applicant applied for retrospective planning permission for the existing
wall under UTT/20/0124/FUL. This was refused due to a Highways objection
which was the sole reason.



This reason for refusal was stated as ‘The development in the form of its wall
and landscaping arrangement impedes on the maximum achievable visibility

Page 92

splays from the site access, to the detriment of highway and pedestrian safety
and is therefore contrary to this condition, condition no. 2(b) of
UTT/16/2024/FUL’.


In order to address this objection it is now proposed to dismantle the existing
wall and reconstruct it with the same dimensions further away from the
highway. The revised location provides clear visibility splays in line with
condition 2 (b) of UTT/16/2024/FUL and is therefore is complaint with Policy
GEN 1.



In addition to highways issues it has been concluded that Section 12 of the
NPPF, and policies S7 ‘The Countryside’ GEN1 ‘Access’ and GEN2 ‘Design’
of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 are the most relevant to the determination of
this application. They predominantly focus on the requirement for development
to achieve good design and the protection of the Countryside. In both
circumstance they reference the importance of being sympathetic to the local
character in achieving good design.



The Council stated in the Case Officers report for UTT/20/0124/FUL that
‘though it might have been preferable had the applicant kept to the original
plans regarding the boundary treatment on the site, as that would have
created a more natural and softer frontage to the development, it is
considered….that the existing red brick wall is not incongruous for the
immediate area’



Therefore now that the sole reason for the refusal of UTT/20/0124/FUL has
been addressed due to the proposed relocation of the wall, and that the
Council has already stated that the red brick wall is not incongruous for the
immediate area, there is no reason not to approve the new wall.



The applicant has stated that he would accept a condition which requires the
planting of native species hedging in front of the development, if approved,
following its completion.

6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

6.1

UTT/20/0124/FUL - Retrospective application for the erection of a front section of
boundary wall identified in blue on submitted plans attached to UTT/18/1486/FUL
for the erection of 1 no. dwelling - refused 30 March 2020
UTT/19/2422/FUL - Erection of boundary wall and amended landscaping attached
to UTT/18/1486/FUL for the erection of 1 no. dwelling – refused 28th November
2019
UTT/19/1533/NMA - Non Material Amendment to UTT/16/2024/FUL - erection of
boundary wall to plot 1 – refused 16th September 2019
UTT/18/1486/FUL - Erection of 1 no. Dwelling (amendment to design of plot 1
approved under UTT/16/2024/FUL) – approved 18th July 2018
UTT/16/2024/FUL - development of 20 houses - approved July 2017

7.

POLICIES

Page 93

National Policies
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)
ULP Policy S7 – The Countryside
ULP Policy GEN1 – Access
ULP Policy GEN2 – Design
ULP Policy GEN7 – Nature Conservation
ULP Policy ENV3 – Open Spaces and Trees

Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance
None
Other Material Considerations
The emerging Newport, Quendon & Rickling neighbourhood plan
8.

PARISH COUNCIL COMMENTS

8.1

Object
The original application layout, note the hedging onto Whiteditch Lane and the
access via Pastures Close. That is what should be enforced!
Highway Safety:
An application to approve the wall at the front of 1 Pastures Close under
UTT/19/2422/FUL was refused on the grounds of visibility splays being inadequate
which, whilst accurate is not the only reason why this should be refused. The
design is not appropriate for the location. This appears to be a further attempt to
justify retention of the wall which as the photos below show does in fact impede
visibility (which is poor in both directions). The original application approval was for
the access to 1 Pastures Close to be made onto Pastures Close not onto
Whiteditch Lane. The wall should not be there and neither should the pavement
which protrudes into Whiteditch Lane. Other than to support access to this single
property there is no purpose or benefit to having this stretch of pavement on
Whiteditch Lane and further unnecessarily restricts what is already a very narrow
rural byway. It also introduces an unnecessary urban form to the countryside.
There is NO reason for this wall to be here.
Evidence from Christine Mayle:
We endorse Christine Mayle’s response to this application, dated 13th July in its
entirety.
Design:
In the planning officer’s report regarding UTT/19/2422/FUL a suggestion was
made that the front wall could be acceptable although is not the preferred option.
We disagree entirely and reiterate the points made by the Parish Council in
response to UTT/19/2422/FUL.
In addition, the application form states that no new or altered pedestrian access
proposed to or from the public highway? This is manifestly not true. The original

Page 94

application had pedestrian access to the front door from Pastures Close, not from
Whiteditch Lane. This is not how the access has been constructed and thus it
does constitute a new pedestrian access to and from the public highway.
Conclusion:
Newport Parish Council conclude that Highways and UDC Enforcement should be
re-consulted on this matter and a site visit from both is essential to ensure that this
matter is satisfactorily dealt with and the matter closed permanently. It is no-one’s
interest for this dispute to be allowed continue further.
9.

CONSULTATIONS
ECC Highways

9.1

The Highway Authority has no objections to make on this proposal, as shown in
principle on DWG no. 490.600, as it is not contrary to the relevant transportation
policies contained within the Highway Authority’s Development Management
Policies, adopted as County Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011
and Uttlesford Local Plan
Policy GEN1.
Informative:
i. All work within or affecting the highway is to be laid out and constructed by prior
arrangement with, and to the requirements and satisfaction of, the Highway
Authority, details to be agreed before the commencement of works.

10.

REPRESENTATIONS

10.1

1 representation received.

10.2

Summary of representations received as follows:
 The original permission included a natural hedge boundary suitable for a
rural setting. Instead there is a brick wall which is contrary to policy S7
 The footpath at the front of the site goes nowhere and intrudes onto the
highway and encourages people to park next to it which blocks access for
emergency and waste disposal vehicles. It does not have dropped kerbs
which makes it difficult for certain types of people to use and which is
contrary to Highways Disability regulations.
 The pedestrian access onto Whiteditch Lane does not have permission
onto the highway
 A footpath to the side of 1 Pastures Close has not been constructed which
comprises pedestrian safety and impacts negatively on the desire people
have to walk instead of drive.

11.

APPRAISAL

The issues to consider in the determination of the application are:
A
B

Character and appearance (NPPF, ULP Policies S7 and GEN2, emerging
Newport, Quendon & Rickling neighbourhood plan);
Highway safety (ULP Policy GEN1);

Page 95

C
D

Residential amenity (ULP Policy GEN2);
Nature conservation and trees (ULP Policies GEN7 & ENV3).

A

Character and appearance (NPPF, ULP Policies S7 and GEN2, emerging
Newport, Quendon & Rickling neighbourhood plan)

11.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that
planning applications must be determined in accordance with the planning policies
set out in the Adopted Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. The adopted development plan for Uttlesford comprises the Uttlesford
Local Plan which was adopted in 2005.

11.2

The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in July
2018 and updated in February 2019. It provides the statutory guidance for
determining planning applications at a national level. It represents the most up to
date central government planning policy guidance and as such is a material
consideration for the determination of planning applications.

11.3

Paragraph 11d) of the NPPF states that where there are no relevant development
plan policies, or the policies which are the most important for determining the
application are out of date, the LPA should grant planning permission unless (i)
the application of policies in the Framework that protect areas or assets of
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development or (ii)
any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh
the benefits when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a
whole.

11.4

ULP Policy S7 of the Council’s adopted Local Plan states that planning permission
will only be given for development that needs to take place there, or is appropriate
to a rural area, adding that there will be strict controls on new building. Policy S7
also states that development will only be permitted if its appearance protects or
enhances the particular character of the part of the countryside within which it is
set or there are special reasons why the development in the form proposed needs
to be there.

11.5

ULP Policy GEN2 states amongst other things development will not be permitted
unless it a) is ‘compatible with the scale, form, layout, appearance and materials of
surrounding buildings’.

11.6

The emerging Newport, Quendon & Rickling neighbourhood plan is at examination
stage and UDC has not issued a decision statement detailing its intention to send
the neighbourhood plan to a referendum (as set out under Regulation 18 of the
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012). Therefore the emerging
plan can only be given limited weight in assessing the application

11.7

However Policy NQRHD2 ‘Housing Design’ of the emerging Newport, Quendon &
Rickling neighbourhood plan states that ‘To be supported a development proposal
will be expected to, through layout, design and materials, and where it is
appropriate: a. Relate well to its site and its surroundings’.

11.8

Under the application that approved the development of the site,
UTT/16/2024/FUL with a changed plot design approved under UTT/18/1486/FUL,

Page 96

the proposed boundary treatment all around the site was a close boarded fence
with native shrubs and hedging to be placed either side of the fence. This
boundary treatment was not conditioned on the latter application.

11.9

The applicant has stated that close board fencing would not be a strong enough
boundary treatment given a change in levels at the front of the site during
construction, and that a brick wall would be a more appropriate boundary
treatment.

11.10

The dwellings along Whiteditch Lane have a varied approach to their boundary
treatments with the highway, including leaving them open, planting hedging and
trees, erecting close boarded fencing, railings, or brick walls.

11.11

Brick walls, and specifically red brick walls, have been erected as a boundary
treatment outside a number of dwellings and developments along Whiteditch
Lane.

11.12

There is a long red brick wall of a similar height to the one proposed, which
includes some piers, immediately opposite the site on the other side of the
highway at Oak Tree House. To the immediate north of the site is Bury Grove the
access to which is between two high red brick walls. To the south of the site
further back along Whiteditch Lane is King Edwards Mews which also utilities a
high red brick wall as part of its boundary treatment with the highway.

11.13

Therefore a red brick wall cannot be said to be out of character for the area. As
there is a red brick wall of similar style and height across the road from the site the
development can be said to relate well to the ‘particular character of the part of the
countryside within which it is set’ (ULP Policy S7), to be ‘compatible with the scale,
form, layout, appearance and materials of surrounding buildings’(ULP Policy
GEN2) and to ‘relate well to its site and its surroundings’(emerging Newport,
Quendon & Rickling neighbourhood plan policy NQRHD2 ‘Housing Design’).

11.14

The applicant has stated that he would accept a condition which requires the
planting of native species hedging in front of the development, if approved,
following its completion.

11.15

As it is under Schedule 1 Part 2 Class A1 (a) (ii) of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 permitted
development rights allow a brick wall up to 1 metre high to be erected adjacent to
the highway without planning permission.

11.16

The site has not had its permitted development rights removed, so the owners
could therefore erect a 1 metre brick wall at the site, adjacent to the highway,
without planning permission.

Page 97

11.17

The brick wall currently at the site, which it is proposed to dismantle and
reconstruct further from the highway to meet highways concerns, is actually
between 800mm and 1 metre high and therefore this aspect of the development
does not need planning permission.

11.18

It is only the use of piers along the wall that brings the height above what is
allowed under permitted development rights. These piers range between 1.1 and
1.28 metres and are therefore only between 100 and 280cm’s higher than what
would be allowed under permitted development rights.

11.19

The increase in impact between what would be allowed under permitted
development rights and what will be erected is considered very modest and
therefore not by itself a valid reason for rejecting planning approval of the
development.

B

Highway Safety (ULP Policy GEN1)

11.20

The Highways Authority at Essex County Council were consulted on the
application. The Highways Authority stated that it has: ‘no objections to make on
this proposal, as shown in principle on DWG no. 490.600, as it is not contrary to
the relevant transportation policies contained within the Highway Authority’s
Development Management Policies, adopted as County Council Supplementary
Guidance in February 2011 and Uttlesford Local Plan Policy GEN1’.

C

Residential amenity (ULP Policy GEN2);

11.21

It is considered that the proposal, due to its scale, design and siting (in terms of
proximity to boundary and/or relationship with neighbouring properties), does not
result in an unacceptable loss of light, overbearing impact and loss of privacy to
neighbouring amenity.

D

Nature conservation and trees (ULP Policies GEN7 & ENV3)

11.22

There is a wall in existence already at the site which will be dismantled and moved
further away from the highway to meet Highways concerns. The applicant has
completed a Biodiversity Validation Checklist and confirmed that the development
will be not impact on protected sites and habitats or protected and priority species
and that no trees or hedgerows will be affected.

12.

CONCLUSION

The following is a summary of the main reasons for the recommendation:
A

B

The development is compatible with the character and appearance of the area as
there already a number of red brick walls of various heights and styles along
Whiteditch Lane.
Despite this the applicant has stated that he would accept a condition which
requires the planting of native species hedging in front of the development, if
approved, following its completion.

Page 98

C

D
E
F

The difference in impact between what would be allowed under permitted
development rights and what will be erected is very modest and therefore not by
itself a valid reason for rejecting planning approval for the development.
The proposal is acceptable to the Highways Authority.
The proposal would not be detrimental to residential amenity.
The proposal would not have a harmful effect on protected or priority species or
trees or hedgerows.

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVAL WITH CONDITIONS
Conditions
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years
from the date of this decision.
REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2.

Notwithstanding Condition 1, the existing wall on the site shall be
demolished/dismantled within three months of the date of this permission, and all
resultant material not being implemented for the replacement wall to be removed
from the site.
REASON: In the interest of the appearance of the development in accordance with
ULP Policy S7 & GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

3.

Details of materials to be used in the boundary wall shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the works carried out in
accordance with the approved details.
REASON: In the interest of the appearance of the development in accordance with
ULP Policy S7 & GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

4.

In the first planting and seeding season following completion of the development
native species hedging shall be planted in front of the development, and any
plants which within a period of five years from the completion of the development
die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in
the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless the local
planning authority gives written consent to any variation. All landscape works shall
be carried out in accordance with the guidance contained in British Standards,
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
REASON: The use of this condition is required to ensure compatibility with the
character of the area in accordance with ULP Policies S7 and GEN2 of the
Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005)

Page 99

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 0100018688

Organisation: Uttlesford District Council
Department:

Planning

Date:

18 November 2020

Page 100

